

Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich



Jean-Remy Conti

Long-term behavior of an artificial market, composed of fundamentalists and noise traders

Master Thesis

Chair of Entrepreneurial Risks Department of Management, Technology and Economics Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) Zurich

Supervision

Rebecca Westphal Prof. Dr. Didier Sornette

August 2018

Abstract

A modified version of an artificial market model designed by Kaizoji et al [1] is provided, stressing the significance of dividends and bringing a possibility of bias amongst noise traders. Noise traders and fundamentalists are the only types of traders involved in the market, which is composed of a risk-free asset and a risky asset. The risk-free asset can be thought as a government bond whereas the risky asset can be thought as a stock.

Fundamentalists follow dividends (which belong to the *fundamentals* of the risky asset) whereas noise traders are subject to social imitation and trend-following. The competition between those two kinds of traders is investigated through the long-term behavior of the market.

We find that dividends have a significant impact on the long-term behavior of the price of the risky asset since noise traders' strategy is not persistent in the long run, compared to the strategy of fundamentalists which mixes both short-term and long-term interesting approaches.

However, in absence of dividends and of fundamentalists, noise traders are able to have a consequent impact on the long-term behavior of the market. This ability depends a lot on the herding which they allow for trend-following and social imitation. We find a phase transition for the returns of the risky asset which can beat the *price of the money*, even if there is only noise within the market.

Acknowledgements

During the last six months, I have had the great pleasure of working on my Master thesis in ETH Zurich. I sincerely thank Prof. Sornette for the opportunity he gave me and for his time, always of significant use.

Besides, I wish to express my gratitude to Rebecca Westphal for her precious help on some technical and simulation aspects.

Finally, I would like to thank warmly my family, especially Vivien, and some friends as Vincent, who have brought me support and comfort on a daily basis.

Contents

Introduction 1				
1	The	market model	5	
	1.1	The assets	5	
	1.2	The dividend process	6	
	1.3	Fundamentalists	8	
	1.4	Noise traders	12	
	1.5	Market clearing condition	15	
2	The	impact of dividends	19	
	2.1	Choice of parameters	19	
	2.2	Transition probabilities	19	
	2.3	General time series	25	
	2.4	Long-term cumulative price return rate	27	
3 The		oretical analysis of the long-term behavior	33	
	3.1	The price momentum	33	
	3.2	The average opinion index	34	
	3.3	Fixed points of the average opinion index without bias	37	
	3.4	A market without dividends	42	
	3.5	A market without fundamentalists $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	44	
Co	onclu	sion	55	
\mathbf{A}	Con	vergence of the price momentum	57	

Introduction

Hommes has argued [2] that in order to appreciate the features of financial markets, it is necessary to introduce some heterogeneity, in order to model the world economy as realistically as possible. This point corresponds to an important shift in Economics, leaving the traditional, rational agent approach to a behavioral agent-based approach. This traditional view comes from Microeconomics and the use of pure Mathematics. Most of the time, only one agent – or, equivalently, many identical agents – is used to model the whole economy. Such an agent is called *representative* agent. In this sense, the behavior of the economic system is a scaled up version of the behavior of one micro-agent. She is often taken to be perfectly *rational*, so that her decisions are ruled by constrained optimization. Nevertheless, optimization does not seem adequate to represent human behavior. Indeed, how could agents form fully rational expectations in a complex, non-linear world ?

Thus, much of evolutionary economics has been focused on the behavior of heterogeneous, boundedly rational, agents who are able to interact with each other. This conceptual change has been motivated by many authors [3, 4, 5, 6], convinced that Economics is a complex system, so that it can be viewed as network structures of elements and connections. A natural framework for exploring such systems is presented by the agent-based models (ABMs), based on the aggregation of simple interactions at the micro level, leading to sophisticated structures at the macro level. In statistical physics, it is said that those systems exhibit emergent phenomena.

Agent-based modeling has been an important tool for providing support to analytical propositions. Even simple agent-based models can explain significant observed stylized facts which rational agent models cannot, as excess volatility, firstly stressed by Shiller[7], high trading volumes, temporary bubbles or trend following. The following quotation illustrates well the needs for heterogeneity:

" One of the things that microeconomics teaches you is that individuals are not alike. There is heterogeneity, and probably the most important heterogeneity here is heterogeneity of expectations. If we didn't have heterogeneity, there would be no trade. But developing an analytic model with heterogeneous agents is difficult." Arrow, 2004 [8].

As an example of such heterogeneity, there are two main philosophies of trading in Economics. The first one corresponds mostly to the traditional, rational agent approach, driven by the *fundamentals* of a given asset, such as dividends, earnings of the firm, macroeconomic growth or unemployment rates. Such investors are called *fundamentalists*. The second one, the *technical analysis*, is more recent and is thought to be responsible of speculation. Technical analysts – also called *chartists* – do not take market fundamentals into account but, instead, they base their trading strategies upon observed price patterns in past prices. For that purpose, they use various technical indicators, trying to extrapolate observed price patterns, such as trends. What is interesting is that financial practitioners have learned to use both strategies. Indeed, Frankel and Froot [9] have provided survey data of the techniques used by some forecasting services between 1978 and 1988. The results are reported in Figure 1. One can observe that, during this period of time, uses of technical analysis became more and more important, compared to fundamentals models.

Year	Total	Chartist	Fund.	Both
1978	23	3	19	0
1981	13	1	11	0
1983	11	8	1	1
1984	13	9	0	2
1985	24	15	5	3
1 9 88	31	18	7	6

Figure 1: Techniques used by forecasting services. Taken from Frankel and Froot [9]. Source: Euromoney, August issues. Total = number of services surveyed; Chart. = number who reported using technical analysis; Fund. = number who reported using fundamentals models; and Both = number reporting a combination of the two. When a forecasting firm offers more than one service, each is counted separately.

In fact, at short horizons, financial practitioners tend to use chartists' trading rules whereas, at longer horizons, they tend to look carefully at fundamentals [10]. This heterogeneity has stimulated much work on agent-based models with chartists against fundamentalists.

In the present report, we shall study the behavior of an interesting agent-based model, proposed by Kaizoji [1], which shows transient super-exponential bubble growth. This model has been studied and slightly modified by other authors [11, 12]. The corresponding artificial market is composed of one risky asset and one risk-free asset, with two different competing trading strategies. The first group of traders is composed of fundamentalists; they use dividends to perceive investment opportunities. Broadly speaking, they are rational risk averse investors, maximizing a given utility function at each time step. The second group of traders, called *noise traders*, are driven both by trend-following (chartists' trading rules) and by social imitation. The latter induces some feedback, sometimes leading to the creation of financial bubbles. Those are defined in [1] as transient super-exponential growth of prices. In contrast to the original model [1] but in the same spirit than in[11, 12], we introduce an exogeneous stochastic dividend process, accounting for non trivial economic determinants, and a possibility of bias among noise traders. In the original model, the impact of dividends was not so realistic, since fundamentalists used to invest a constant fraction of their wealth in the risky asset, with respect to time.

More specifically, we shall study the long-term behavior of this modified artificial market. It has been shown in [13] that dividends can be seen as an external field – in a phase transitions meaning – so that they drive prices. This result was obtained in a static perspective and in absence of speculation. Besides, in absence of external field, that is without dividends, a phase transitions approach has been developed for prices [13]. We shall try to investigate if those stylized facts hold with our dynamic model.

In Chapter 1, a detailed explanation of the artificial market model is provided. An effort has been made to put the chosen exogeneous dividend process into perspective with traditional processes, which one can find in the litterature. The strategy of both types of traders is then developed, leading to the price equation of the risky asset. Chapter 2 focuses on the impact of dividends on the market model, using numerical simulations. The purpose of Chapter 3 is more theoretical, but most of the results obtained are then used to find what happens to the market when there is no dividend.

Chapter 1 The market model

1.1 The assets

The market model has only two assets: a risk-free asset and a risky asset. The risk-free asset can be thought of as a government bond. It has perfect elastic supply: it is guaranteed to pay a fixed risk-free interest rate r_f at each time step, no matter how much is invested. For instance, r_f could be equal to 2% per year. If one invests a wealth $W_{t-1}^{risk-free}$ in the risk-free asset at time t-1, one gets the wealth $W_{t-1}^{risk-free}$ $(1+r_f)$ at time t. The risk-free interest rate r_f characterizes the 'price of money': it is a source of certain returns, without any risk. As a consequence, if a trader does not invest in the risk-free asset, she expects that she will get return rates greater than r_f – perhaps by taking some risk – otherwise, it is of no interest.

The risky asset can be represented by a stock. Investors buy and sell shares of this stock at a given price P_t , which is set, at time t, by supply and demand. If one invests a wealth W_{t-1}^{risky} in the risky asset at time t-1, one obtains $\frac{W_{t-1}^{risky}}{P_{t-1}}$ shares of the stock. The price of the risky asset is, thus, a benchmark unit for the value of a share.

There are two sources of returns, so that $W_t^{risky} = W_t^a + W_t^b$. At time t, the price changes but the number of owned shares does not, so that one still has $\frac{W_{t-1}^{risky}}{P_{t-1}} = \frac{W_t^a}{P_t}$ shares of the stock, with a new wealth $W_t^a = W_{t-1}^{risky} \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}}$. The risky asset also pays dividends d_t at each time step: those are payments per owned share of the asset, chosen irrespective of the investors. Having $\frac{W_{t-1}^{risky}}{P_{t-1}}$ shares of the stock at time t-1, one receives the dividend payment $W_t^b = \frac{W_{t-1}^{risky}}{P_{t-1}} d_t$ at time t. Thus, being invested in the risky asset from t-1 to t yields two kinds of returns: the price return rate $r_t := \frac{P_t - P_{t-1}}{P_{t-1}} = \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}} - 1$ and the dividend yield $\frac{d_t}{P_{t-1}}$.

$$\begin{cases} W_t^{risk-free} &= W_{t-1}^{risk-free} (1 + r_f) \\ W_t^{risky} &= W_{t-1}^{risky} [1 + r_t + \frac{d_t}{P_{t-1}}] \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

In the special case where the price P_t of the risky asset is lower than its previous value P_{t-1} , that is the price return rate r_t is negative, there is a competition between the price return rate and the dividend yield. Hence, even if prices have fallen, the risky asset can still be profitable, compared to the risk-free asset, if dividends are enough to compensate the 'loss' due to the change of prices.

In the general case, a trader *i* chooses, at any time *t*, how much will be invested respectively in the risk-free and the risky assets. This notion is called the risky fraction x_t^i , that is the fraction of wealth invested in the risky asset at time *t*. Thus, the fraction of wealth invested in the risk-free asset at time *t* is nothing but $(1 - x_t^i)$. From Equations 1.1, a trader *i*, having a wealth W_{t-1}^i at time t-1, gets the wealth W_t^i at the next time step, defined by:

$$W_t^i = (1 - x_{t-1}^i) W_{t-1}^i (1 + r_f) + x_{t-1}^i W_{t-1}^i [1 + r_t + \frac{d_t}{P_{t-1}}]$$
(1.2)

$$W_t^i = W_{t-1}^i \left[1 + r_f + x_{t-1}^i R_{\text{excess},t} \right] \quad \text{with} \quad R_{\text{excess},t} := r_t - r_f + \frac{d_t}{P_{t-1}}$$
(1.3)

 $R_{\text{excess,t}}$ is called the *excess return* of the risky asset over the risk-free asset. As said before, the risk-free interest rate r_f can be viewed as a lower base line for capital returns. The excess return then provides a measure for the profitability of the risk of buying the risky asset, instead of the risk-free one. From Equation 1.3, one could notice that what defines an investor i are her initial wealth W_0^i and her risky fraction x_t^i process. In the latter equation (called the wealth dynamics of trader i), all quantities are known, except the risky fraction and the dividend processes, as well as the price dynamics.

1.2 The dividend process

When a firm makes profits, the resulting earnings are allocated to retained earnings or dividend payments by a financial decision. Dividends are generally distributed one or several times per year to its shareholders – the owners of shares in the company – to satisfy their need for liquidity or other uses. Dividend payment behavior – also called dividend policy – has been a strong research field in economics [14].

Unfortunately, there is no widely accepted theory of optimal dividend policy. Thus, many papers found in the litterature use empirical facts to establish specific dividend policy theories which can be incorporated in more general models. Many of these specific theories are based on John Lintner's model [15] which includes several stylized facts coming from interviews of managers about their dividend policies. Generally speaking, managers choose the dividends which will be paid by their firms to have a target payout ratio – the proportion of firm earnings paid out as dividends to shareholders – as a long-term objective. However, due to unanticipated changes in earnings of companies, those policies can deviate from their

initial objective. In this case, managers choose policies which smooth the time path of the changes in dividends needed to meet that objective. One should notice that the earnings mentioned by Lintner are 'permanent' earnings, that is to say that all 'temporary' earnings, known to vanish in the future, are not taken into account.

In[16], Marsh and Merton develop a model of the dividend process which captures well the behavior described in the Lintner interviews. Let d_t be the dividend per share paid by a firm to shareholders at time t and e_t the permanent earnings per share of this firm at time t. They introduced the following dividend policy process:

$$d_t = (1+r_d) d_{t-1} + \sum_{k=0}^{N} \gamma_k \left[e_{t-k} - (1+r_d) e_{t-k-1} \right].$$
(1.4)

It is assumed that $\gamma_k \geq 0$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., N. Put another way, managers choose dividends to grow at a constant growth rate r_d and it happens at least when $e_{t-k} = (1 + r_d) e_{t-k-1}$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., N. It means that, in order to get a constant target payout ratio, the earnings of their firm should follow the same growth behavior than the dividends paid to shareholders. Thus, a deviation from this growth rate for permanent earnings will impact future dividends. One can notice that the parameter N characterizes the number of past periods which would be taken into account by managers to set dividends. The positivity of the coefficients γ_k leads to a negative impact on dividends when earnings are less than expected. For the sake of simplicity, we shall denote the dividends per share by 'dividends' in all this thesis since the total amount of dividends will be of no use.

Since the Lintner interviews, other variables such as free cash flows or firm size have appeared to be determinants of dividend policy [14]. In addition, Dhrymes and Kurz showed that variations in dividend policy are primarily because of a combination of many endogenous and exogenous elements [17]. Adding more complexity on the subject, Shiller has stressed the fact that financial behavior is influenced by societal norms and attitudes and that social pressures are able to lead to errors in judgement and trading activities that defy logical explanation [7, 18]. Considering those new aspects makes it possible to enrich dividend policy theories so that dividend payouts can be viewed as the socioeconomic repercussion of corporate evolution [19]. However, it seems really difficult to introduce this kind of psychology behavior into traditional financial pricing models. As an illustration to this non-trivial subject, one should keep in mind the following quotation:

" The harder we look at the dividend picture, the more it seems like a puzzle with pieces that just don't fit together." Black, 1976

As a consequence of this huge complexity to model dividend policy, it has become quite standard to take the dividend process as completely exogenous, adding some stochasticity accounting for all non-trivial time-dependent determinants of dividend policy. Such models include Markov switching[20] and autoregressive integrated moving average [21] models but also trend-stationary autoregressive [22], simple random walk [23] and stationary [24] processes. However, the most widely used process – and considered as the tradition in applied work in finance – remains the geometric random walk.

Although it is possible to find in the litterature uses of geometric log-normal random walk models [24, 25], we shall adopt, in this thesis, a geometric normal random walk process for the dividends, following several authors [26, 11, 12, 27]:

$$\tilde{d}_t = (1+r_t^d) \ \tilde{d}_{t-1} = \tilde{d}_0 \ \prod_{k=1}^t (1+r_k^d) \ .$$
(1.5)

Here, the growth rate r_t^d of the dividends is stochastic and, more precisely, follows a normal distribution characterized by a mean value r_d and a standard deviation σ_d :

$$r_t^d = r_d + \sigma_d u_t \quad \text{where} \quad u_t \stackrel{i.i.d.}{\sim} \mathcal{N}(0, 1) .$$
 (1.6)

One could notice an analogy between this dividend process and Marsh and Merton's endogenous model, defined in equation (1.4). From their perspective, all the information contained in the aggregate permanent earnings of the firm is now replaced by a stochastic term $\sigma_d u_t \tilde{d}_{t-1}$, considering thus that the aggregate unexpected changes in permanent earnings can be viewed as stochastic. This should not be surprising, given the difficulty of distinguishing 'permanent' from 'temporary' earnings and considering the large number – and their complexity – of the reasons for changes in earnings. From a more state-of-theart perspective, this stochastic term accounts for all previously described determinants of dividend policy such as psychology and sociological elements, which are hardly quantifiable.

One should notice that, depending on the values of r_d and σ_d , dividends can become negative. This seems unrealistic, so that the real dividend process is thought to be the following:

$$d_t = \begin{cases} \tilde{d}_t & \text{if } \tilde{d}_t \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{d}_t < 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.7)

In the previous equation, the quantity \tilde{d}_t simply corresponds to the exogeneous process, defined in Equation 1.5. The dividends paid by the risky asset are then always positive.

1.3 Fundamentalists

Fundamentalists are rational risk averse value investors; this kind of traders comes directly from Microeconomics. Their risky fraction x_t^f , at time t, is the result of a maximization of the expected utility of their expected wealth W_{t+1}^f at time t + 1:

$$x_t^f = \max_{x_t^f} \mathbb{E}_t[U(W_{t+1}^f)]$$
(1.8)

Here, $\mathbb{E}_t[\cdot]$ is the mathematical expectation, given all information available at time t. Let us explain their strategy in details. In order to find their risky fraction x_t^f at time t, they maximize the previous quantity. Their future wealth W_{t+1}^f is given by Equation 1.3, that is the wealth dynamics. In this equation, the following quantities are unknown at time t, given that they will be determined in the future: x_t^f , r_{t+1} and d_{t+1} . Then, they compute the utility function of their future wealth $U(W_{t+1}^f)$, still without knowing x_t^f , r_{t+1} and d_{t+1} . Utility functions are a well-known concept in Economics; they characterize consumer's preference ordering over a choice set[28]. Thus, fundamentalists use an utility function $U(W_{t+1}^f)$ – which will be detailed later – to quantify explicitly their preference for their future wealth, that is how much they would prefer getting the wealth $W_{t+1}^f = 3 W_t^f$ to getting the wealth $W_{t+1}^f = 2 W_t^f$ for instance.

Here, this choice is made under uncertainty (mainly about future returns r_{t+1}) so that, as risk averse investors, they exhibit a relative risk aversion $\gamma(W_{t+1}^f)$, which is nothing but a quantitative measure of how averse to risk and uncertainty they are. The most commonly used measure of relative risk aversion $\gamma(W_{t+1}^f)$ for an investor, having a given utility function $U(W_{t+1}^f)$, was developed by J.W. Pratt in the 1960s [29]:

$$\gamma(W_{t+1}^f) = -W_{t+1}^f \frac{U''(W_{t+1}^f)}{U'(W_{t+1}^f)}$$
(1.9)

Here, $U'(W_{t+1}^f)$ (respectively $U''(W_{t+1}^f)$) denotes the first (respectively the second) derivative of the utility function $U(W_{t+1}^f)$. The utility function, which fundamentalists use to measure their preference for their future wealth, is chosen so that it would be compliant with their relative risk aversion γ being constant [1]:

$$U(W_{t+1}^{f}) = \begin{cases} \log(W_{t+1}^{f}) & \text{for } \gamma = 1 \\ \\ \frac{W_{t+1}^{f}}{1-\gamma} & \text{for } \gamma \neq 1 \end{cases}$$
(1.10)

Obviously, the utility function is an increasing function of their expected wealth – their preference corresponds to possible gains – but there is a notion of risk, when investing in the risky asset, characterized by γ . Since they do not know the quantities x_t^f , r_{t+1} and d_{t+1} in the expression of $U(W_{t+1}^f)$, they now have to estimate them. They behave as rational traders, meaning that they are able to guess the true values of parameters, when computing an expectation. In this sense, their expectations coincide with mathematical expectations, which explains the expectation appearing in the quantity to maximize. Finally, the optimization gives the risky fraction x_t^f they have to choose to get a future wealth that maximizes their utility function – at least, in terms of expectation – that is to say, their preference taking a constant relative risk aversion γ into account. The derivation of this maximization has been done in [27, 1]:

$$x_t^f = \frac{1}{\gamma} \frac{\mathbb{E}_t[R_{\text{excess},t+1}]}{\operatorname{Var}_t[R_{\text{excess},t+1}]}$$
(1.11)

Here, $\operatorname{Var}_t[\cdot]$ is the mathematical variance, given all information available at time t. One could notice that the more they expect the risky asset to return, compared to the risk-free asset, the greater the risky fraction x_t^f of fundamentalists – that is, the amount of wealth they invest in the risky asset. Besides, their risky fraction decreases with the relative risk aversion γ to the risky asset and with the uncertainty they have about the future excess return. Using the definition of the excess return in Equation 1.3, one finds:

$$\mathbb{E}_{t}[R_{\text{excess,t+1}}] = \mathbb{E}_{t}(r_{t+1}) - r_{f} + \frac{\mathbb{E}_{t}(d_{t+1})}{P_{t}}$$
(1.12)

As rational traders, they are able to compute the mathematical expectation of dividends d_{t+1} , using the *true* parameters r_d and σ_d of Equations 1.5 and 1.6, but they cannot get a convincing value for their expectation of the price return rate r_{t+1} since there is no such parameter: they make a simple guess. Since there is no obvious way of having a time-dependent expectation of price return rates, it is assumed, for the sake of simplicity, that this quantity is constant with respect to time: $\mathbb{E}_t(r_{t+1}) := E_{r_t}$. It only means that fundamentalists make a guess, at the beginning of the market, about the price return rate r_t . This value can then be viewed as what they expect in the long-run. It is assumed that $E_{r_t} > r_f$, otherwise it means that, from the very beginning of the market, fundamentalists would always think that the risk-free asset is the best option, and consequently stay away from the risky asset, which is not an interesting case. Using the equations of the dividend process 1.5 and 1.6, one finds:

$$\mathbb{E}_{t}[R_{\text{excess,t+1}}] = E_{r_{t}} - r_{f} + \frac{d_{t}}{P_{t}} (1 + r_{d})$$
(1.13)

For the variance $\operatorname{Var}_t[R_{\operatorname{excess},t+1}]$ appearing in Equation 1.11, one should notice that fundamentalists face the same problem than with the expectation $\mathbb{E}_t(r_{t+1})$. They still do not have any information about the future price return rate r_{t+1} and, unlike the expectation $\mathbb{E}_t[R_{\operatorname{excess},t+1}]$, the variance is non-linear. Thus, it is not possible to separate terms, as it has been done in Equation 1.12, except using the covariance, which depends on the future price return rate r_{t+1} , so that it is of no use. As a consequence, in the same spirit than with the expectation $\mathbb{E}_t(r_{t+1})$, fundamentalists make an initial guess about the variance of the excess return, which can then be viewed as a long-run value: $\operatorname{Var}_t[R_{\operatorname{excess},t+1}] := \sigma_{\operatorname{excess}}^2$. Using Equations 1.11 and 1.13, one finds the risky fraction of fundamentalists:

$$\begin{cases} x_t^f = x_{\min}^f + \frac{d_t}{P_t} \frac{1+r_d}{\gamma \,\sigma_{\text{excess}}^2} > 0 \\ x_{\min}^f = \frac{E_{r_t} - r_f}{\gamma \,\sigma_{\text{excess}}^2} > 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.14)

One should notice that, at each time step, fundamentalists invest at least the fraction x_{\min}^f of their wealth in the risky asset. This minimum fraction corresponds to a long-term strategy, depending on their initial guess of the long-term behavior. The other quantity appearing in the expression of the risky fraction x_t^f is time-dependent and forms a short-term

strategy, only depending on the current price-dividend ratio. For a better understanding of that short-term strategy, let us find how the risky fraction changes with respect to time. Using Equations 1.14, one finds:

$$x_{t+1}^{f} - x_{t}^{f} = \left(\frac{d_{t+1}}{P_{t+1}} - \frac{d_{t}}{P_{t}}\right) \frac{1 + r_{d}}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^{2}}$$
(1.15)

Since, the long-term strategy, that is x_{\min}^f , is constant with respect to time, the change in the risky fraction x_t^f , which one could observe in the previous equation, is only due to the short-term strategy. In particular, it is now possible to compare the risky fraction x_t^f of fundamentalists at any time t with their initial risky fraction x_0^f :

$$x_t^f - x_0^f = \left(\frac{d_t}{P_t} - \frac{d_0}{P_0}\right) \frac{1 + r_d}{\gamma \,\sigma_{\text{excess}}^2} \tag{1.16}$$

As a consequence, to observe a constant risky fraction with respect to time $(x_t^f = x_0^f$ for all t), the price of the risky asset must follow the following specific behavior:

$$P_t^{\star} = P_0 \frac{d_t}{d_0} = P_0 \prod_{k=1}^t (1 + r_d + \sigma_d u_k)$$
(1.17)

In this sense, fundamentalists expect the long-term price growth to be due to the growth of dividends, that is $r_t \sim r_d$. Thus, any deviations from this behavior are perceived as investment opportunities. This explains why they are called fundamentalists. This kind of traders is widely used in Economics; they base their trading strategies upon market fundamentals and economic factors, such as dividends, and they tend to invest in assets which are undervalued, that is, whose prices are below a benchmark fundamental value, and sell assets which are overvalued, that is, whose prices are above the fundamental value[2]. In this case, the fundamental value is the price following the same growth than the dividends, that is P_t^* .

For the sake of simplicity, fundamentalists are assumed to be identical, so that we can consider, in the following, the behavior of one representative fundamental trader, having an initial wealth W_0^f and a risky fraction process as defined in Equations 1.14. The concept of *representative agent* is well-known and has been widely used in Economics [30]. In this case, it does not seem very restrictive since fundamentalists are maximizers so, assuming that they have the same relative risk aversion γ and the same opinion about the long-term behavior of the risky asset, they all have the same strategy.

1.4 Noise traders

In contrast to the fundamentalists, noise traders have different opinions. Besides, they embody the lack-of-diversification puzzle [31, 32], so that, in this model, they are always either fully invested in the risky or in the risk-free asset. Among a total of N_n noise traders, the number of noise traders invested in the risky asset (respectively invested in the risk-free asset) at time t is N_t^+ (respectively N_t^-), so that the conservation of noise traders gives: $N_t^+ + N_t^- = N_n$ for all t. At each time step, all noise traders decide whether to keep their current position or to change it, in a probabilistic manner. Let p_{t-1}^+ (respectively p_{t-1}^-) be the probability that any of the N_{t-1}^+ traders who are fully invested in the risky asset (respectively any of the N_{t-1}^- traders who are out of the risky asset) at time t - 1 decides to sell it (respectively to buy it) at time t. Those probabilities are called *transition probabilities*; they characterize the time-dependent propensity for noise traders to move in a two-state system. At this point, one might wonder about what is able to affect those transition probabilities.

Noise traders do not take fundamentals into account but, instead, they base their trading strategies upon imitation and technical analysis [2, 33]. The latter – also called chartist strategy – is vast and includes lots of possible indicators, most of them based on observed historical patterns in past prices, giving the 'trend' of the asset. One of the most widely used indicators is the *price momentum* H_t , defined as follows:

$$H_t = \theta H_{t-1} + (1 - \theta) r_t \tag{1.18}$$

One should notice that it is nothing but an exponential moving average of past price return rates r_t . The parameter $\theta \in (0, 1)$ is a measure of the noise trader memory length.

In order to use imitation as a strategy, it is necessary to know what to imitate. For that purpose, the model of Lux [34, 35] and Lux and Marchesi [36, 37] introduces a useful quantity for noise traders, the *opinion index* s_t , representing the average opinion among them:

$$s_t = \frac{N_t^+ - N_t^-}{N_n} \in [-1, 1]$$
(1.19)

It is clear that the sign of the opinion index s_t indicates whether the prevailing sentiments on the risky asset are optimistic $(s_t > 0)$ or pessimistic $(s_t < 0)$. In a nutshell, noise traders are trend-followers (using the price momentum H_t) and they tend to imitate each other (using the opinion index s_t). As a consequence, those quantities are the only ones affecting the transition probabilities $p_t^-(s_t, H_t)$ and $p_t^+(s_t, H_t)$. As in [1], the expressions of those probabilities are taken so that they depend linearly on s_t and H_t , for simplicity, having an intrinsic non zero value. However, unlike[1], some bias is introduced among noise traders:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_t^- = \frac{p_-}{2} \left[1 + \kappa(s_t + H_t) \right] & \text{with} \quad p_- \in (0, 1) \\ \tilde{p}_t^+ = \frac{p_+}{2} \left[1 - \kappa(s_t + H_t) \right] & \text{with} \quad p_+ \in (0, 1) \end{cases}$$
(1.20)

 κ is called the *herding propensity*, giving the strength of trend and imitation among noise traders. For instance, for $\kappa > 0$, if the number of noise traders invested in the risky asset increases and/or its price has increased recently, the probability \tilde{p}_t^- – that is the probability that any of the traders currently out of the risky asset decides to buy it – increases and the probability \tilde{p}_t^+ – that is the probability that any of the traders currently fully invested in the risky asset decides to sell it – decreases. One could notice that, in absence of herding ($\kappa = 0$), the transition probabilities are non zero and characterized by the constants p_- and p_+ . Any difference between those two constants induces some bias among noise traders: if $p_- > p_+$, noise traders are intrinsically more likened to buy the risky asset when they are not invested in it than to sell it when they are fully invested in it. One should notice that the quantities defined in Equations 1.20 are not real probabilities since they do not necessarily belong to the set [0, 1]; we call them *pseudo transition probabilities* and they are denoted using the symbol ~. The 'real' transitions probabilities $p_t^-(s_t, H_t)$ and $p_t^+(s_t, H_t)$ are then simply defined as saturations of the pseudo transition probabilities:

$$p_{t}^{-} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \in [0,1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$
(1.21)

$$p_t^+ = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_t^+ & \text{if } \tilde{p}_t^+ \in [0,1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_t^+ \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_t^+ \geq 1 \end{cases}$$
(1.22)

Let us now derive the dynamics of the opinion index s_t . Noise traders' decision, about whether to keep their position or to change it, is represented by Bernoulli random variables, which depend themselves on the transition probabilities. In details, for a noise trader kwho owns the risky asset at time t-1, her specific decision at time t is represented by the Bernoulli random variable $\xi_k(p_{t-1}^+)$, taking the value 1 with probability p_{t-1}^+ – that is she sells the asset which she owns – and the value 0 with probability $(1 - p_{t-1}^+)$ – that is she keeps the asset. In the same spirit, for a noise trader j who is out of the risky asset at time t-1, her specific decision at time t is represented by the Bernoulli random variable $\xi_j(p_{t-1}^-)$, taking the value 1 with probability p_{t-1}^- – that is she buys the asset – and the value 0 with probability $(1 - p_{t-1}^-)$ – that is she stays away from the asset. The random variables $\{\xi_i\}$ are independent, so that noise traders make independent decisions. Now that the decision process of noise traders is defined, it is possible to find the dynamics of the number N_t^+ of noise traders fully invested in the risky asset at time t and of the number N_t^- who are out of it at time t:

$$\begin{cases} N_{t}^{-} = \sum_{k=1}^{N_{t-1}^{+}} \xi_{k}(p_{t-1}^{+}) + \sum_{j=1}^{N_{t-1}^{-}} [1 - \xi_{j}(p_{t-1}^{-})] \\ N_{t}^{+} = \sum_{k=1}^{N_{t-1}^{+}} [1 - \xi_{k}(p_{t-1}^{+})] + \sum_{j=1}^{N_{t-1}^{-}} \xi_{j}(p_{t-1}^{-}) \end{cases}$$
(1.23)

Let us explain the equation giving N_t^- , that is the number of noise traders who are out of the risky asset at time t. The first sum corresponds to the number of noise traders who were fully invested in the risky asset at time t - 1 and decided to sell it at time t. The second sum corresponds to the number of noise traders who were already out of the risky asset at time t - 1 and decided to stay away from it at time t. An analogous explanation holds for N_t^+ .

Summing both previous equations, one can get convinced that the conservation of noise traders holds for the previous specific dynamics of N_t^- and N_t^+ :

$$N_t^- + N_t^+ = N_{t-1}^- + N_{t-1}^+ = N_0^- + N_0^+ = N_n$$
(1.24)

Using Equations 1.23 in the definition of the opinion index s_t in Equation 1.19, one finds the dynamics of the opinion index:

$$s_t = \frac{1}{N_n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N_{t-1}^+} \left[1 - 2\xi_k(p_{t-1}^+) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{N_{t-1}^-} \left[2\xi_j(p_{t-1}^-) - 1 \right] \right) \in [-1, 1]$$
(1.25)

As in [1], we do not aim at describing the heterogeneity between noise traders: only their aggregate impact will be considered, so that, as for the fundamentalists, they will be treated as one group with total wealth W_t^n . One can picture this situation as one group of noise traders, sharing a common total wealth and having equal weights in their decision of investing or not in the risky asset, so that their risky fraction x_t^n is nothing but the following:

$$x_t^n = \frac{N_t^+}{N_n} = \frac{1+s_t}{2} \in [0,1]$$
(1.26)

As a consequence, their risky fraction is only a rescaling of the opinion index s_t ; it is stochastic and strongly dependent on the transition probabilities which are saturations of the pseudo transition probabilities, defined in Equations 1.20. Those probabilities lead to an imitative and trend-following strategy. This kind of traders results from an important paradigm shift in Economics, that is the transition between the representative, rational agent approach to the behavioral, agent-based approach [2]. One should keep in mind that this conceptual change appeared when Economics began to be thought as a complex evolving system.

1.5 Market clearing condition

The two considered kinds of traders are completely defined: they have initial wealths W_0^f and W_0^n , risky fraction processes defined in Equations 1.14 and 1.26 and wealth dynamics defined in Equation 1.3. According to 1.1, at time t, one of those two representative traders, let say trader i, holds the following number of shares of the risky asset:

$$n_t^i = \frac{x_t^i W_t^i}{P_t} \tag{1.27}$$

Thus, from time t-1 to time t, the trader i has an excess demand $\Delta D_{t-1\to t}^i = n_t^i - n_{t-1}^i$, in terms of shares of the risky asset. Using Equations 1.27 and 1.3, one finds:

$$\Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^{i} = \frac{x_{t}^{i} W_{t}^{i}}{P_{t}} - \frac{x_{t-1}^{i} W_{t-1}^{i}}{P_{t-1}}$$

$$= W_{t-1}^{i} \left[\frac{x_{t}^{i}}{P_{t}} \left[1 + r_{f} + x_{t-1}^{i} \left(\frac{P_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} + \frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} \right) \right] - \frac{x_{t-1}^{i}}{P_{t-1}} \right]$$

$$= W_{t-1}^{i} \frac{x_{t-1}^{i}}{P_{t-1}} \left(x_{t}^{i} - 1 \right) + W_{t-1}^{i} \frac{x_{t}^{i}}{P_{t}} \left[1 + r_{f} + x_{t-1}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) \right]$$

$$(1.28)$$

It has been explained in 1.1 that the price P_t of the risky asset at time t is set by supply and demand. This is a common way to obtain successive prices in Economics, called the *market clearing condition* or Walras' law. Sometimes considered as an 'equilibrium', it is nothing but the conservation of shares:

$$\Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^f + \Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^n = 0 \tag{1.29}$$

It only means that the price P_t of the risky asset has to evolve in such a way that there is a trade of a given number of shares of the risky asset between fundamentalists and noise traders. In the following, the corresponding price equation is derived.

Using Equation 1.28 in the market clearing condition, one finds:

$$W_{t-1}^{f} \frac{x_{t-1}^{f}}{P_{t-1}} \left(x_{t}^{f}-1\right) + W_{t-1}^{f} \frac{x_{t}^{f}}{P_{t}} \left[1+r_{f}+x_{t-1}^{f} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}}-1-r_{f}\right)\right] + W_{t-1}^{n} \frac{x_{t}^{n}}{P_{t}} \left[1+r_{f}+x_{t-1}^{n} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}}-1-r_{f}\right)\right] = 0$$

$$(1.30)$$

The risky fraction x_t^f of fundamentalists depends explicitly on the price of the risky asset. Equations 1.14 give:

$$W_{t-1}^{f} \frac{x_{t-1}^{f}}{P_{t-1}} \left(x_{\min}^{f} + \frac{d_{t}}{P_{t}} \frac{1+r_{d}}{\gamma \sigma_{excess}^{2}} - 1 \right) + \frac{W_{t-1}^{f}}{P_{t}} \left(x_{\min}^{f} + \frac{d_{t}}{P_{t}} \frac{1+r_{d}}{\gamma \sigma_{excess}^{2}} \right) \left[1 + r_{f} + x_{t-1}^{f} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) \right] \\ + W_{t-1}^{n} \frac{x_{t-1}^{n}}{P_{t-1}} \left(x_{t}^{n} - 1 \right) + W_{t-1}^{n} \frac{x_{t}^{n}}{P_{t}} \left[1 + r_{f} + x_{t-1}^{n} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) \right] = 0$$

$$(1.31)$$

This equation leads to the price equation, of second-order in the price:

$$a_t P_t^2 + b_t P_t + c_t = 0 (1.32)$$

The coefficients a_t , b_t and c_t are time dependent; their expression is given below:

$$a_{t} = \frac{1}{P_{t-1}} \left[\frac{W_{t-1}^{n}}{W_{t-1}^{f}} x_{t-1}^{n} (x_{t}^{n} - 1) + x_{t-1}^{f} \left(\frac{E_{r_{t}} - r_{f}}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^{2}} - 1 \right) \right]$$
(1.33)

$$b_{t} = \frac{x_{t-1}^{f}}{\gamma \sigma_{excess}^{2}} \frac{d_{t} (1+r_{d})}{P_{t-1}} + \frac{E_{r_{t}} - r_{f}}{\gamma \sigma_{excess}^{2}} \left[x_{t-1}^{f} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) + 1 + r_{f} \right] + (1.34) \frac{W_{t-1}^{n}}{W_{t-1}^{f}} x_{t}^{n} \left[x_{t-1}^{n} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) + 1 + r_{f} \right] \right]$$

$$c_{t} = \frac{d_{t} (1+r_{d})}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^{2}} \left[x_{t-1}^{f} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) + 1 + r_{f} \right]$$
(1.35)

In the expression of a_t – see Equation 1.33 – one could notice that, if $\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2 \geq E_{r_t} - r_f$, the sign of a_t is known: $a_t \leq 0$. Indeed, by definition, the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders

satisfies $x_t^n \leq 1$ and all other quantities appearing in the expression of a_t are positive. Using Equations 1.14, it is possible to define the quantity $\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2$ as a function of the initial risky fraction x_0^f :

$$\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2 = \frac{1}{x_0^f} \left[E_{r_t} - r_f + \frac{d_0}{P_0} (1 + r_d) \right]$$
(1.36)

This is how the product $\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2$ is implemented in the numerical simulations. Then, the condition to obtain $a_t \leq 0$, that is $\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2 \geq E_{r_t} - r_f$, is equivalent to:

$$\frac{1}{x_0^f} \left[E_{r_t} - r_f + \frac{d_0}{P_0} (1 + r_d) \right] \ge E_{r_t} - r_f \tag{1.37}$$

Let us recall that it has been supposed in 1.3 that $E_{r_t} > r_f$. Hence, one finds the following condition on the initial risky fraction x_0^f of fundamentalists:

$$x_0^f \le 1 + \frac{d_0}{P_0} \frac{1+r_d}{E_{r_t} - r_f}$$
(1.38)

As a consequence, if $x_0^f < 1$, then the product $\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2$ satisfies $\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2 > E_{r_t} - r_f$, so that $a_t \leq 0$ for all t. In the following of this thesis, it will be assumed that $x_0^f < 1$ to fix the sign of the coefficient a_t . It is not really restrictive and seems even realistic since it means that, at the beginning of the market, fundamentalists do not invest all their wealth in the risky asset.

In fact, it is even possible to show that $a_t < 0$ for all t. Indeed, since the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders satisfies $0 \le x_t^n \le 1$, one finds the following inequality, using the expression of a_t in Equation 1.33:

$$a_t \leq \frac{1}{P_{t-1}} x_{t-1}^f \left(\frac{E_{r_t} - r_f}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2} - 1 \right)$$

$$(1.39)$$

Let us recall that, by definition, fundamentalists invest at least the fraction x_{\min}^{f} of their wealth in the risky asset at any time t, so that: $x_{t-1}^{f} \ge x_{\min}^{f}$ i.e. $x_{t-1}^{f} \ge \frac{E_{r_{t}} - r_{f}}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^{2}} > 0$. Besides, since it is assumed that $x_{0}^{f} < 1$, we have $\frac{E_{r_{t}} - r_{f}}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^{2}} - 1 < 0$. Using those inequalities in the previous inequality on a_{t} , one finds:

$$a_t \leq \frac{1}{P_{t-1}} \frac{E_{r_t} - r_f}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2} \left(\frac{E_{r_t} - r_f}{\gamma \sigma_{\text{excess}}^2} - 1 \right) < 0$$
(1.40)

In a nutshell, once it is assumed that $E_{r_t} > r_f$ and that $x_0^f < 1$, the coefficient a_t is negative for all t.

Furthermore, one could notice, in Equations 1.34 and 1.35, that the signs of the coefficients b_t and c_t are much more difficult to find. However, the only quantity, appearing in their expression, which is not clearly positive is the following: $x_{t-1}^i \left(\frac{d_t}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_f\right) + 1 + r_f$, where *i* denotes the fundamentalists or the noise traders. Thus, if b_t or c_t is negative, it means that this quantity is negative too. One should notice that there is no equivalence between those two propositions and the latter proposition is only a necessary condition to obtain b_t or c_t negative. Let us find what happens when the previous quantity is negative:

$$x_{t-1}^{i} \left(\frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_{f} \right) + 1 + r_{f} \leq 0$$

i.e. $(1 + r_{f}) \left(1 - x_{t-1}^{i} \right) + x_{t-1}^{i} \frac{d_{t}}{P_{t-1}} \leq 0$ (1.41)

The second term of the latter inequality is positive. As a consequence, if b_t or c_t is negative, it means that the first term is negative, that is $x_{t-1}^i > 1$. As said before, this condition cannot be satisfied for the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders but it might be possible for the risky fraction x_t^f of fundamentalists. Thus, the coefficients b_t and c_t are most of the time positive and a necessary condition for them to be negative is that the risky fraction x_t^f of fundamentalists is greater than 1, which should rarely occurs. It means that fundamentalists borrow some money to invest in the risky asset, thinking that it is profitable.

In a nutshell, once we choose an initial risky fraction for the fundamentalists such that $x_0^f < 1$, and if their risky fraction x_t^f at time t is less than 1, one is able to find the sign of the discriminant of Equation 1.32:

$$\Delta = b_t^2 - 4a_t c_t = b_t^2 + 4|a_t|c_t \ge 0 \tag{1.42}$$

As a consequence, in those conditions, the only positive solution for the price of the risky asset is the following:

$$P_t = \frac{b_t + \sqrt{b_t^2 + 4|a_t|c_t}}{2|a_t|} \tag{1.43}$$

Among the two conditions required to obtain this result $(x_0^f < 1 \text{ and } x_t^f \leq 1)$, the only one over which there is no possible control is the risky fraction x_t^f being less than 1. Thus, for theoretical study, we shall use Equation 1.29 or 1.32 whereas, for numerical simulations, we shall use Equation 1.43 with a verification of the positivity of the discriminant and of the price, at each time step.

Chapter 2

The impact of dividends

In this chapter, the herding propensity κ is time-dependent and undergoes a discretized Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process, as in [1]:

$$\begin{cases} \kappa_t - \kappa_{t-1} = \eta(\mu_\kappa - \kappa_{t-1}) + \sigma_\kappa \nu_t \\ \nu_t \stackrel{i.i.d.}{\sim} \mathcal{N}(0, 1) . \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

It seems to be a more realistic feature for noise traders; the strength of social imitation and trend influence varies in time. It adds a second input – in addition to the stochastic dividend process – from the external world, corresponding to a varying economy, geopolitical climate, psychology for instance.

2.1 Choice of parameters

For the following numerical simulations, it is necessary to fix the values of the constant parameters. For that purpose, a *basic parameter set* is provided by Table 2.1. The values within this set are mostly imported from [1], where it is shown that they correspond to realistic values on a daily basis. This means that they come from empirical economic studies and that they are rescaled, so that they remain realistic when the time step of the model, described in Chapter 1, is equal to 1 day. In cases where other values than those in Table 2.1 are used instead, differences will always be highlighted.

2.2 Transition probabilities

In this section, a quantitative study of how the transition probabilities depend on each other is provided. The following discussion first considers the simple case of no bias $(p_+ = p_- = p)$ and then the general case $(p_+ \neq p_-)$. Let us recall the expressions of the

Table 2.1: Basic parameter set used for numerical simulations. Those values are mostly imported from [1], where it is shown that they correspond to realistic values on a daily basis.

Assets	Fundamentalists	Noise traders	Transition probabilities
$r_f = 8 \times 10^{-5}$	$W_0^f = 1 \times 10^6$	$W_0^n = 1 \times 10^6$	$p_+ = 0.199375$
$d_0 = 1.6 \times 10^{-4}$	$x_0^f = 0.3$	$x_0^n = 0.3$	$p_{-} = 0.200625$
$P_0 = 1$	$E_{r_t} = 1.6 \times 10^{-4}$	$N_n = 1000$	$\mu_{\kappa} = 0.98$
$r_d = 1.6 \times 10^{-4}$		$\theta = 0.95$	$\eta = 0.11$
$\sigma_d = 1.6 \times 10^{-5}$		$H_0 = 0$	$\sigma_{\kappa} = 1 \times 10^{-3}$

transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ in absence of bias, which are saturations of the pseudo transition probabilities \tilde{p}_t^- and \tilde{p}_t^+ :

$$p_{t}^{-} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} = \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa_{t} \left(s_{t} + H_{t} \right) \right] \in [0, 1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$p_{t}^{+} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} = \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa_{t} \left(s_{t} + H_{t} \right) \right] \in [0, 1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(2.2)$$

One could notice that the sum of the pseudo transition probabilities \tilde{p}_t^- and \tilde{p}_t^+ is constant with respect to time:

$$\tilde{p}_t^- + \tilde{p}_t^+ = p \in (0,1) \tag{2.3}$$

As a consequence, it proves the following result:

Proposition 1. The pseudo transition probabilities are symmetrical with respect to $\frac{p}{2}$.

This explains how the pseudo transition probabilities depend on each other. Let us now focus on the real transition probabilities and, for that purpose, let us consider all possible cases on the pseudo transition probabilities.

 $\bullet \ \tilde{p}_t^- \ \in [0,1] \ \iff \ p_t^- \ = \ \tilde{p}_t^-$

In this case, the real transition probability p_t^- is known. Using Equation 2.3, one finds the following condition on the pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^+ :

$$p-1 \leq \tilde{p}_t^+ \leq p < 1$$

To know the value of the real transition probability p_t^+ , it is necessary to distinguish the cases where the corresponding pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^+ is in the set [0, 1] and where it is not.

• $0 \leq \tilde{p}_t^+ \leq p \Rightarrow p_t^+ = \tilde{p}_t^+$

This restriction on \tilde{p}_t^+ implies a restriction on \tilde{p}_t^- , according to Equation 2.3: $0 \leq \tilde{p}_t^- \leq p$. In brief, the conditions $0 \leq \tilde{p}_t^- \leq p$ and $0 \leq \tilde{p}_t^+ \leq p$ give $p_t^- = \tilde{p}_t^-$ and $p_t^+ = \tilde{p}_t^+$. Thus, one finds the following solutions:

$$\begin{cases} 0 \le p_t^- \le p\\ p_t^+ = p - p_t^- \end{cases}$$

• $p - 1 \le \tilde{p}_t^+ \le 0 \implies p_t^+ = 0$

This restriction implies, according to Equation 2.3: $p \leq \tilde{p}_t^- \leq 1$. Thus, using $p_t^- = \tilde{p}_t^-$ and $p_t^+ = 0$, one finds:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} p \leq p_t^- \leq 1 \\ p_t^+ = 0 \end{array} \right.$$

 $\bullet ~ \tilde{p}_t^- ~\leq ~ 0 ~~ \Longleftrightarrow ~~ p_t^- ~= ~ 0$

Equation 2.3 gives the following condition on the pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^+ :

$$\tilde{p}_t^+ \ge p > 0$$

Using Equations 2.2, one finds the following solutions:

$$\begin{cases} p_t^- = 0\\ p \le p_t^+ \le 1 \end{cases}$$

This solution is degenerate: for one single value of p_t^- , many values for p_t^+ are possible. Indeed, once $\tilde{p}_t^- \leq 0$ is considered, p_t^- becomes fixed, equal to 0. However, the lower \tilde{p}_t^- , the greater p_t^+ until its saturation to 1. The problem is that the information on how much \tilde{p}_t^- is lower than 0 vanishes when considering p_t^- – which is equal to 0.

• $\tilde{p}_t^- \ge 1 \iff p_t^- = 1$

Equation 2.3 gives the following condition on the pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^+ :

$$\tilde{p}_t^+ \leq p-1 < 0$$

Using Equations 2.2, one finds the following solution:

$$\begin{cases} p_t^- = 1\\ p_t^+ = 0 \end{cases}$$

In order to get a clearer idea of how the transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ depend on each other, the previous results are represented by a plot $p_t^+ = f(p_t^-)$, provided by Figure 2.1. The corresponding plot is depicted by the green curve. The parameter p takes the value 0.2 and it is represented both on the x-axis and the y-axis by a red dashed line. Inside the domain where both transition probabilities are lower than p, the transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ are equal to their corresponding pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^- or \tilde{p}_t^+ . Then, according to Equation 2.3, the following relation holds inside this domain: $p_t^- + p_t^+ = p$. As for Proposition 1, it implies that the real transition probabilities are symmetrical with respect to $\frac{p}{2}$ inside this domain. The two remaining domains ($p_t^- = 0$ and $p_t^+ = 0$) are characterized by the saturation of at least one of the transition probabilities. For instance, when $p_t^- = 0$, the values taken by p_t^+ are degenerate; they can be equal to any value in the set [p, 1], depending on the value of the pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^- . Inside those saturated domains, there is not symmetry with respect to $\frac{p}{2}$ anymore for the real transition probabilities whereas this symmetry holds for the pseudo transition probabilities, according to Proposition 1.

Let us now consider the general case, that is with bias $(p_{-} \neq p_{+})$. The transition probabilities are the following:

$$p_{t}^{-} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} = \frac{p_{-}}{2} \left[1 + \kappa_{t} \left(s_{t} + H_{t} \right) \right] \in [0, 1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$p_{t}^{+} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} = \frac{p_{+}}{2} \left[1 - \kappa_{t} \left(s_{t} + H_{t} \right) \right] \in [0, 1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4)$$

Then, the sum of the pseudo transition probabilities is not constant with respect to time anymore:

$$\tilde{p}_t^- + \tilde{p}_t^+ = \frac{p_- + p_+}{2} + \frac{p_- - p_+}{2} \kappa_t (s_t + H_t)$$
(2.5)

Let us now compare both terms appearing at the right side of the previous equation. According to the definition of the opinion index s_t , it is known that $|s_t| \leq 1$. Furthermore, it is shown in[1] that the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process for the herding propensity κ_t , described in 2.1, admits the following stationary distribution:

$$\kappa_t \sim \mathcal{N}\left(\mu_{\kappa}, \frac{\sigma_{\kappa}}{\sqrt{2\eta}}\right)$$
(2.6)



Figure 2.1: Possible values for the transition probability p_t^+ as functions of the other transition probability p_t^- , in absence of bias. The corresponding plot is depicted by the green curve. The parameter p takes the value 0.2 and it is represented both on the x-axis and the y-axis by a red dashed line. Inside the domain where both transition probabilities are lower than p, the transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ are equal to their corresponding pseudo transition probability \tilde{p}_t^- or \tilde{p}_t^+ . The two remaining domains ($p_t^- = 0$ and $p_t^+ = 0$) are characterized by the saturation of at least one of the transition probabilities.

As a consequence, in average, the following inequality holds for the herding propensity: $\kappa_t \leq \mu_{\kappa} + 10 \frac{\sigma_{\kappa}}{\sqrt{2\eta}}$. Let us now focus on the price momentum H_t , whose expression is the following:

$$\begin{cases} H_0 = 0\\ H_t = \theta H_{t-1} + (1-\theta) r_t & \text{for } t \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(2.7)$$

Let us recall that it is an exponential moving average of the successive past return rates $r_t = \frac{P_t - P_{t-1}}{P_{t-1}}$.

Proposition 2. If $|r_t| \leq \alpha$ with $\alpha \geq 0$ for any t, then $|H_t| \leq \alpha$ for any t.

Proof. Let us proceed by induction.

- $H_0 = 0 \leq \alpha$
- Let us suppose that $H_{t-1} \leq \alpha$. Using the definition of the price momentum H_t , one finds:

$$|H_t| \leq \theta |H_{t-1}| + (1-\theta) |r_t|$$

$$\leq \theta \alpha + (1-\theta) \alpha$$

$$\leq \alpha$$

For a realistic purpose, it is expected – and verified in the following simulations – that $|r_t| << \frac{1}{2}$. Indeed, it means that the price P_t of the risky asset cannot increase or decrease by more than 50% of its current value during one time step only. Thus, according to Proposition 2, one finds: $|H_t| \leq \frac{1}{2}$.

Thus, in average, the last term at the right side of Equation 2.5 satisfies:

$$\left|\frac{p_{-}-p_{+}}{2}\kappa_{t}\left(s_{t}+H_{t}\right)\right| \leq \frac{\left|p_{-}-p_{+}\right|}{2}\left(\mu_{\kappa}+10\frac{\sigma_{\kappa}}{\sqrt{2\eta}}\right)\frac{3}{2}$$
(2.8)

Considering the values used for the simulations, which are given in the basic parameter set provided by Table 2.1, one finds:

$$\begin{cases} \left|\frac{p_{-}-p_{+}}{2}\kappa_{t}\left(s_{t}+H_{t}\right)\right| \leq 9.207 \times 10^{-4} \\ \left|\frac{p_{-}+p_{+}}{2}\right| = 0.2 \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

As a consequence, in those conditions, the following relation holds:

$$\left|\frac{p_{-}-p_{+}}{2}\kappa_{t}\left(s_{t}+H_{t}\right)\right| << \left|\frac{p_{-}+p_{+}}{2}\right|$$
(2.10)

Thus, according to Equation 2.5, the sum of the pseudo transition probabilities is approximately constant with respect to time, in those conditions:

$$\tilde{p}_t^- + \tilde{p}_t^+ \approx \frac{p_- + p_+}{2}$$
 (2.11)

Hence, the previous discussion for the simpler case of no bias holds for the general case. The parameter p is played by $\frac{p_-+p_+}{2}$: when both real transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ are in the set $[0, \frac{p_-+p_+}{2}]$, they are approximately equal to their corresponding pseudo transition probabilities \tilde{p}_t^- and \tilde{p}_t^+ , so that they are roughly symmetrical with respect to $\frac{p_-+p_+}{4}$. If one of the transition probabilities is greater than $\frac{p_-+p_+}{2}$, there is saturation of at least one of them, thus no symmetry anymore.

2.3 General time series

In order to get a clearer idea of the dynamics of the market, time series of some relevant variables are plotted on Figure 2.2. The simulation is computed until t = 5000 days and uses the basic parameter set provided in Table 2.1. The herding propensity κ_t undergoes the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process, defined in Equations 2.1, as one can observe on the corresponding panel of Figure 2.2. The mean reversion level μ_{κ} is represented by a dashed line.

The price P_t of the risky asset is displayed on a log-linear scale, so that a straight line expresses an exponential behavior. Between t = 2000 and t = 3000 days, one could observe a financial bubble, defined in [1] as a super-exponential growth of the price. Because of their herding behavior, based on feedback and imitation, noise traders outperform fundamentalists during the bubble but fail to maintain their competitive advantage because of the subsequent crash, as one can observe on the plot corresponding to the wealth ratio $\frac{W_t^n}{W_t^f}$. The price momentum H_t series is plotted on the same panel than the price return rate r_t series to stress the fact that H_t is nothing but an exponential moving average of r_t .

On Figure 2.2, one could notice that the risky fraction x_t^f of fundamentalists, defined in Equations 1.14, depends well linearly on the dividend-price ratio. The transition probabilities are roughly symmetrical with respect to $\frac{p_- + p_+}{4}$, which is represented by a dashed line. This behavior can be predicted, using the definitions of the pseudo transition probabilities in Equations 2.4 and the fact that the bias introduced in the basic parameter set of Table 2.1 is small: $p_- \sim p_+$. When one of the transition probabilities becomes greater than $\frac{p_- + p_+}{2} = 0.2$ (see Table 2.1), there is saturation to 0 for the other transition probability. The dependence of the transition probabilities on the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders (imitation) and on the price momentum H_t (trend) appears clearly on Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Time series of the market over 5000 days. All the parameters used for the simulation are taken from the basic parameter set provided in Table 2.1. The herding propensity undergoes a discretized Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process. Its mean reversion level μ_{κ} is represented by a dashed line. One could observe on the price series a *financial bubble* between t = 2000 and t = 3000 days, defined in [1] as a super-exponential growth of the price P_t . Because of their herding behavior, noise traders outperform fundamentalists during the bubble but fail to maintain their competitive advantage in the end. The transition probabilities are roughly symmetrical with respect to $\frac{p_- + p_+}{4}$, which is represented by a dashed line. It is possible to observe their almost linear dependence (the herding propensity κ_t is not constant with respect to time) on the price momentum H_t and on the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders.

2.4 Long-term cumulative price return rate

It has been shown in [13] that dividends can be seen as an external field, in a phase transitions meaning. Indeed, positive dividends make a stock desirable whereas negative dividends – corresponding to a premium that must be paid regularly to own the asset – make it not attracting if it does not provide other benefits. Thus, dividends drive the price of the asset. However, the discussion in [13] has been made in a static view for the fundamental price of the asset, using the celebrated formula of Gordon and Shapiro [38], and in absence of speculation. In a dynamic perspective, corresponding to our model, we expect the deterministic long-term price return rate r_{∞} to be the mean growth rate r_d of dividends. Indeed, the speculation brought by noise traders seems to have a non-persistent impact on the market, according to the wealths' dynamics on Figure 2.2, so that fundamentalists drive the price P_t of the risky asset to its fundamental value in the long run.

In the model described in Chapter 1, the notion of 'infinite time' is difficult to catch. The only simple characteristic time which is present corresponds to the dividend process. Using Equations 1.5 and 1.6, the mathematical expectation gives an estimate of the deterministic evolution of dividends, in the special case where $r_d >> \sigma_d$: $\mathbb{E}(d_t) \sim (1 + r_d) \mathbb{E}(d_{t-1})$. Thus, one finds the approximate characteristic time τ_d for the exponential behavior of the expectation of dividends:

$$\tau_d = \frac{1}{\log(1+r_d)}$$
(2.12)

This characteristic time can act as a benchmark for the time of our simulations. However, one should notice that it is not sufficient to provide any information on the minimum time of simulation required to obtain a hypothetical steady state: it is only a lower bound. As a consequence, the simulations have been run until the maximum possible time of simulation $t_{\rm max}$. This maximum corresponds to a technical limit of storage of high numbers (typically greater than 10^{308}).

Due to the stochastic aspect of our model, the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ is considered, instead of the price return rate r_t . It is nothing but the cumulative moving average of the successive price return rates, making it possible to smooth the stochasticity. In all following simulations in this thesis, stochasticity is represented by initial seeds which generate random numbers. On Figure 2.3, time series of the price return rate r_t and of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ have been plotted until the maximum possible time of simulation $t_{\text{max}} = 431733$, depicted by a green dashed line on each panel. All parameters used for the simulation are taken from the basic parameter set, provided by Table 2.1, except the mean growth rate r_d of dividends ($r_d = 0.0016$). For greater clarity, only one seed has been used. The first two panels suggest that both r_t and $\langle r_t \rangle$ seem to converge over time, after a given transient regime. The last two panels are nothing but zooms of the previous panels around their 'convergent' value. On the third panel, one could observe that stochasticity has a significant impact on the price return rate r_t , even when t is near its final value t_{max} , so that there is not really convergence of r_t over time. However, from $t \sim 25000$ to $t_{\rm max}$, the price return rate r_t of the risky asset is centered around a mean value approximately equal to 0.0016, exhibiting variations about 6% from this value $\left(\frac{0.00165-0.00155}{0.0016}$ ~ 6%). The large period of time for which those observations are verified suggests that, from $t \geq 25000$, the variations of the price return rate r_t are only due to stochasticity, so that there would be no significant change for times greater than $t_{\rm max}$. As a consequence, it seems difficult to define a deterministic long-term price return rate r_{∞} – let us recall that the purpose of this section is to find such a deterministic long-term value, to compare with the mean growth rate r_d of dividends – using only the stochastic price return rate r_t . On the last panel of Figure 2.3, one could notice that the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ is much more stable than the price return rate r_t for $t \geq 25000$. Furthermore, it converges to a value approximately equal to 0.0016, that is the previous mean value of the price return rate r_t . Thus, the variations, observed on the time series of the price return rate r_t , seem to be offset when using a simple average, meaning that they are caused by stochasticity only. Hence, a deterministic long-term price return rate r_{∞} can be defined using the long-term cumulative price return rate. In addition, one should notice that the convergent value of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ is exactly the mean growth rate r_d of dividends, used for this simulation (0.0016). It suggests that the long-term cumulative price return rate is well equal to the mean growth rate r_d of dividends.

Even if the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ seems to converge over time, it has the disadvantage of keeping in memory transient past return rates. Thus, its long-term value $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ will only lead to an estimate of the deterministic long-term price return rate r_{∞} . Having said that, let us focus on the numerical process to get the value $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. To find how this value depend on the mean growth rate r_d of dividends, the computation of $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ is made in the following, for many values of r_d .

Because of the significant corresponding times of simulation, only the simulation of the first seed is run until t_{max} . Taking the final value of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\text{tmax}} \rangle$ for this specific seed, we find the time t_c from which the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ stays into a convergent interval of 1% of the final value $\langle r_{\text{tmax}} \rangle$. Then, the simulations of all seeds are computed until this 'convergent' time t_c . The process of computation of the time t_c is illustrated on Figure 2.4. As for Figure 2.3, the time series have been plotted until the maximum possible time of simulation $t_{\text{max}} = 431733$ for one specific seed, depicted by a green dashed line on each panel. All parameters used for the simulation are taken from the basic parameter set, provided by Table 2.1, except the mean growth rate r_d of dividends ($r_d = 0.0016$). The horizontal blue dashed lines correspond to the convergent interval of 1% of the final value $\langle r_{\text{tmax}} \rangle$. Then, it is possible to find the time t_c from which the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ stays into this convergent interval. This time t_c is depicted by a vertical blue dashed line on each panel.

Finally, we take the average of the values $\langle r_{\rm t_c} \rangle$ over the seeds to get the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. The standard deviation of the set of values $\langle r_{\rm t_c} \rangle$, each corresponding to one seed (that is before taking the average $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$), is denoted by $\sigma[\langle r_{\infty} \rangle]$. In the following, 100 seeds are considered. Assuming that all those seeds lead exactly to the same simulations, the uncertainty of 1% over the value $\langle r_{\rm t_c} \rangle$ of the first seed propagates to a global uncertainty $\sigma_{\rm err}$ over the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$, whose value is the following:



Figure 2.3: Comparison between time series of the price return rate r_t and time series of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ of the risky asset. The time series have been plotted until the maximum possible time of simulation $t_{\max} = 431733$, depicted by a green dashed line on each panel. All parameters used for the simulation are taken from the basic parameter set, provided by Table 2.1, except the mean growth rate r_d of dividends ($r_d = 0.0016$). For greater clarity, only one seed has been used. The first two panels suggest that both r_t and $\langle r_t \rangle$ seem to converge over time, after a given transient regime. The last two panels are nothing but zooms of the previous panels around their 'convergent' value. On the third panel, one could observe that stochasticity has a significant impact on the price return rate r_t , even when t is near its final value t_{\max} , so that there is not really convergence of r_t over time. The last panel shows that the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ is much more stable than the price return rate r_t for $t \geq 25000$. Furthermore, it converges to a value approximately equal to 0.0016, that is the mean growth rate r_d of dividends, used for this simulation.



Figure 2.4: Process of computation of the convergent time t_c , which will be the maximum time of simulations for all seeds. The time series have been plotted until the maximum possible time of simulation $t_{\text{max}} = 431733$, depicted by a green dashed line on each panel. All parameters used for the simulation are taken from the basic parameter set, provided by Table 2.1, except the mean growth rate r_d of dividends ($r_d = 0.0016$). One specific seed is used to obtain a simulation until t_{max} . Taking the final value of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{t_{\text{max}}} \rangle$ for this specific seed, we find the time t_c from which the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ stays into a convergent interval of 1% of the final value $\langle r_{t_{\text{max}}} \rangle$. The horizontal blue dashed lines correspond to the convergent interval of 1% of the final value $\langle r_{t_{\text{max}}} \rangle$. Then, it is possible to find the time t_c from which the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ stays into this convergent interval. This time t_c is depicted by a vertical blue dashed line on each panel.

$$\sigma_{\rm err} = \frac{0.01}{\sqrt{100}} = 1 \times 10^{-3} \tag{2.13}$$

One should notice that σ_{err} is a lower bound for the real uncertainty over $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$, since each seed leads to a unique behavior, due to the stochasticity. Doing the simulations for many values of the mean growth rate r_d of dividends makes it possible to find the relation between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ and r_d . The results are plotted on Figure 2.5.

100 seeds have been used and all parameters – except r_d which varies along the x-axis – are taken from the basic parameter set, provided in Table 2.1. On the first panel, the values of the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ are plotted along with the corresponding values of r_d (blue line) used to compute them. As expected, the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ seems to be equal to the mean growth rate r_d of dividends. On the third panel, the ratio $\frac{t_c}{t_{\text{max}}}$ gives some information about the convergence of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$. For values of r_d lower than 10^{-3} , this ratio becomes significant, meaning that there is not really convergence. Thus, the corresponding values of $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ are not relevant, so that lower values than 10^{-4} for r_d have not been represented. One should notice that low values for the ratio $\frac{t_c}{t_{\text{max}}}$ do not mean that there has been a real convergence of the cumulative price return rate. On the fourth panel, the ratio $\frac{t_c}{\tau_d}$ shows that the time t_c used to compute $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ is almost always greater than 100 times the characteristic time of dividends' dynamics, except for values of r_d around 10^{-3} . Its use is justified since the considered values of r_d are greater than 10^{-3} and that the standard deviation σ_d of dividends is roughly equal to 10^{-5} (see Table 2.1). On the second panel, the relative difference between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ and r_d is represented. There is a peak which we cannot explain but it appears for values of r_d for which the time t_c is less than 100 times the characteristic time τ_d . On this panel, the value of $\sigma_{\rm err}$ is displayed by a dashed line. For the relevant values of r_d (greater than 10^{-3}), one could observe that the relative difference between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ and r_d is greater than $\sigma_{\rm err}$ (around 4×10^{-3} in average). The last panel provides some information about this difference: the standard deviation of the values used to compute the average $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ over all the seeds, rescaled by $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. One could notice that its values are too small to explain the previous difference. Then, we conclude by remarking that the memory of the transient past cumulative price return rates $\langle r_t \rangle$ may have an impact of our results. However, it may be possible that there has not been a real convergence. In all cases, even if $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ is not exactly equal to r_d , dividends have still a significant impact on the long-term price return rate of the risky asset, supporting [13] about their external field aspect.



Figure 2.5: Long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ as a function of the mean growth rate r_d of dividends. The cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ is the cumulative moving average of the successive price return rates r_t . 100 different seeds have been used for the simulations. All parameters are taken from the basic parameter set, provided in Table 2.1, except the mean growth rate r_d of dividends, which varies along the x-axis. To obtain the long-term value $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ for one given value of r_d , the simulation corresponding to one specific seed is run until the maximum possible time of simulation $t_{\rm max}$ (technical limit of storage of numbers greater than 10^{308}) – see Figure 2.3 for more details. The final value $\langle r_{t_{\text{max}}} \rangle$ of the cumulative price return rate for the first seed is used to compute a 'convergent' time t_c from which the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_t \rangle$ stays into an interval of 1% of its final value $\langle r_{t_{\text{max}}} \rangle$ (see Figure 2.4). The simulations of all 100 seeds are then run until t_c . The average of the values $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ over all the seeds is the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$, plotted on the first panel along with the value of r_d used for its computation (blue straight line). The standard deviation of the values $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ over all the seeds is denoted by $\sigma[\langle r_{\infty} \rangle]$ and a rescaled version is plotted on the last panel. On the third panel, the ratio $\frac{t_c}{t_{\text{max}}}$ shows that the results obtained for values of r_d lower than 10^{-3} are not relevant. The fourth panel compares the 'convergent' time t_c to the approximate characteristic time τ_d of dividends, defined in Equation 2.12. Its use is legitimate since the considered values of r_d are greater than 10^{-3} and the standard deviation σ_d of dividends is around 10^{-5} (see Table 2.1). The relative difference between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ and r_d is plotted on the second panel. The dashed line corresponds to $\sigma_{\rm err}$, defined in Equation 2.13, which is a lower bound for the uncertainty on $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$.

Chapter 3

Theoretical analysis of the long-term behavior

3.1 The price momentum

Let us recall the expression of the price momentum, as a function of the price return rate r_t :

$$\begin{cases} H_0 \\ H_t = \theta H_{t-1} + (1-\theta) r_t & \text{if } t \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(3.1)$$

Proposition 3. For $t \ge 1$, $H_t = (1-\theta) \sum_{i=1}^t \theta^{t-i} r_i + \theta^t H_0$.

Proof. We have $H_1 = (1-\theta) r_1 + \theta H_0$. Then, if we suppose that the proposition stands for $t \ge 1$, we have :

$$H_{t+1} = \theta \left[(1-\theta) \sum_{i=1}^{t} \theta^{t-i} r_i + \theta^t H_0 \right] + (1-\theta) r_{t+1}$$

= $(1-\theta) \sum_{i=1}^{t} \theta^{t+1-i} r_i + \theta^{t+1} H_0 + (1-\theta) r_{t+1}$
= $(1-\theta) \sum_{i=1}^{t+1} \theta^{t+1-i} r_i + \theta^{t+1} H_0$

This expression clearly shows how the price momentum depends on the successive price return rates. Now, let us suppose that the price return rate r_t converges to a given value r_{∞} . We would like to know what is the long-term behavior of the price momentum H_t .

Proposition 4. If r_t converges to a given value r_{∞} , the price momentum H_t converges to the same value.

Proof. We shall use the following identity: $1 - \theta^t = (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^t \theta^{t-i}$. The long-term price return rate r_{∞} can then be written as follows:

$$r_{\infty} = r_{\infty} (1 - \theta^{t} + \theta^{t})$$
$$= r_{\infty} (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^{t} \theta^{t-i} + \theta^{t} r_{\infty}$$

Then, one finds easily the difference between H_t and r_{∞} :

$$H_t - r_{\infty} = (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^t \theta^{t-i} [r_i - r_{\infty}] + \theta^t (H_0 - r_{\infty})$$

The last term tends to 0 when $t \to +\infty$, since $\theta \in [0, 1]$. When $t \to +\infty$, $r_t \to r_\infty$, so the term in square brackets in the previous sum becomes as small as we want it to be. It does not prove why the sum converges to 0 but it gives a general idea. For a complete mathematical proof of this point, see Appendix A.

In fact, the relation between H_t and r_t is even more important than that. Let us suppose that H_t converges to a given value H^* . Then, $(H_t - \theta \ H_{t-1})$ converges to $(1-\theta) \ H^*$. From equation 3.1, one finds that $H_t - \theta \ H_{t-1} = (1-\theta) \ r_t$. As a consequence, r_t converges to a given value r_{∞} which verifies $(1-\theta) \ r_{\infty} = (1-\theta) \ H^*$, that is $r_{\infty} = H^*$. This proves the following result.

Proposition 5. The price momentum H_t converges if and only if the price return rate r_t converges. If one of them converges to a given value, the other one converges to the same value.

3.2 The average opinion index

The opinion index s_t is stochastic because of the randomness of the variables $\xi_k(p_t^+)$ and $\xi_j(p_t^-)$, which appear in the dynamics of the number N_t^+ of noise traders invested in the risky asset and of the number N_t^- of those invested in the risk-free asset instead:

$$\begin{cases} N_{t}^{+} = \sum_{k=1}^{N_{t-1}^{+}} [1 - \xi_{k}(p_{t-1}^{+})] + \sum_{j=1}^{N_{t-1}^{-}} \xi_{j}(p_{t-1}^{-}) \\ N_{t}^{-} = \sum_{k=1}^{N_{t-1}^{+}} \xi_{k}(p_{t-1}^{+}) + \sum_{j=1}^{N_{t-1}^{-}} [1 - \xi_{j}(p_{t-1}^{-})] \\ s_{t} = \frac{N_{t}^{+} - N_{t}^{-}}{N_{c}} \in [-1, 1] \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

It is nevertheless possible to get the average deterministic behavior, using the mathematical expectation and considering \overline{s}_t , a linear expansion of $\mathbb{E}(s_t)$ instead.

Proposition 6. For $t \ge 1$, $\overline{s}_t = \overline{s}_{t-1} + p_{t-1}^- (1 - \overline{s}_{t-1}) - p_{t-1}^+ (1 + \overline{s}_{t-1})$

Proof. The random variable $\xi_k(p_t^+)$ (resp. $\xi_j(p_t^-)$) takes the value 1 with probability p_t^+ (resp. p_t^-) and the value 0 with probability $1 - p_t^+$ (resp. $1 - p_t^-$). Then, one easily finds their expectation:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{E}(\xi_k(p_t^+)) = 1 \times \mathbb{E}(p_t^+) + 0 \times (1 - \mathbb{E}(p_t^+)) = \mathbb{E}(p_t^+) \\ \mathbb{E}(\xi_j(p_t^-)) = 1 \times \mathbb{E}(p_t^-) + 0 \times (1 - \mathbb{E}(p_t^-)) = \mathbb{E}(p_t^-) \end{cases}$$

One should notice that the transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ are linear functions of the stochastic index opinion s_t (and of the price momentum H_t). As a consequence, the transition probabilities $\mathbb{E}(p_t^-)$ and $\mathbb{E}(p_t^+)$ appearing as results of the previous calculus are deterministic versions of the *true* transition probabilities, so that p_t^- (\bar{s}_t, H_t) and p_t^+ (\bar{s}_t, H_t) are now considered. For the sake of simplicity, their respective writing symbols are not changed.

Using a linear expansion in Equations 3.2, it is possible to find a deterministic version of the dynamics of N_t^+ and N_t^- :

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \mathbb{E}(N_t^+) \ = \ \mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^+) \ (1-p_{t-1}^+) \ + \ \mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^-) \ p_{t-1}^- \\ \mathbb{E}(N_t^-) \ = \ \mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^+) \ p_{t-1}^+ \ + \ \mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^-) \ (1-p_{t-1}^-) \end{array} \right.$$

One finds the corresponding value of $\mathbb{E}(s_t) \sim \overline{s}_t$, using Equations 3.2:

$$\overline{s}_{t} = \frac{\mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^{+}) (1 - 2p_{t-1}^{+}) + \mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^{-}) (2p_{t-1}^{-} - 1)}{N_{c}}$$

The conservation of noise traders $N_t^+ + N_t^- = N_c$ gives the relations between N_t^+ (or N_t^-) and s_t , which are: $\frac{N_t^+}{N_c} = \frac{1}{2}(1+s_t)$ and $\frac{N_t^-}{N_c} = \frac{1}{2}(1-s_t)$. It is then possible to use the corresponding relations between $\mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^+)$ (or $\mathbb{E}(N_{t-1}^-)$) and $\mathbb{E}(s_{t-1}) \sim \overline{s}_{t-1}$:

$$\overline{s}_{t} = \frac{\frac{N_{c}}{2} (1 + \overline{s}_{t-1}) (1 - 2p_{t-1}^{+}) + \frac{N_{c}}{2} (1 - \overline{s}_{t-1}) (2p_{t-1}^{-} - 1)}{N_{c}}$$
$$= \frac{1 + \overline{s}_{t-1}}{2} - \frac{1 - \overline{s}_{t-1}}{2} + p_{t-1}^{-} (1 - \overline{s}_{t-1}) - p_{t-1}^{+} (1 + \overline{s}_{t-1})$$
$$= \overline{s}_{t-1} + p_{t-1}^{-} (1 - \overline{s}_{t-1}) - p_{t-1}^{+} (1 + \overline{s}_{t-1})$$

The fact that $s_t \in [-1, 1]$ stands for its expectation, that is: $\overline{s}_t \in [-1, 1]$. One can notice that this is true because p_{t-1}^+ and p_{t-1}^+ are in the set [0, 1].

Proposition 6 can be rewritten, using the average risky fraction of noise traders $\overline{x}_t^n = \frac{1+\overline{s}_t}{2}$, instead of the average index opinion:

$$\overline{x}_{t}^{n} - \overline{x}_{t-1}^{n} = p_{t-1}^{-} \left(1 - \overline{x}_{t-1}^{n}\right) - p_{t-1}^{+} \overline{x}_{t-1}^{n}$$

$$(3.3)$$

Considering the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n as the probability for noise traders to be invested in the risky asset at time t, this equation is exactly a discrete-time master equation. The first term represents the change, in successive time steps, of the probability of being invested in the risky asset. Two reasons are given. The first (positive) contribution appears when noise traders are not invested in the risky asset at time t - 1 and decide to buy at time t. The second (negative) contribution appears when noise traders are well invested in the risky asset at time t - 1, but decide to sell at time t. The change of position is then characterized by the transition probabilities.

In the expression of \bar{s}_t , the only link with the market remains in the transition probabilities p_{t-1}^- (\bar{s}_{t-1}, H_{t-1}) and p_{t-1}^+ (\bar{s}_{t-1}, H_{t-1}). In order to obtain the long-term behavior of the average opinion index \bar{s}_t , it is thus necessary to look at their respective behavior. Let us recall that they are defined as saturations of the pseudo transition probabilities \tilde{p}_{t-1}^- and \tilde{p}_{t-1}^+ :

$$p_{t}^{-} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} = \frac{p_{-}}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(\bar{s}_{t} + H_{t} \right) \right] \in [0, 1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{-} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$p_{t}^{+} = \begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} = \frac{p_{+}}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(\bar{s}_{t} + H_{t} \right) \right] \in [0, 1] \\ 0 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} \leq 0 \\ 1 & \text{if } \tilde{p}_{t}^{+} \geq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4)$$

Here, the herding propensity κ is chosen to be constant, for the sake of simplicity. From Equations3.4, one finds: $\tilde{p}_t^- - \frac{p_-}{2} \kappa \bar{s}_t = \frac{p_-}{2} [1 + \kappa H_t]$ and $\tilde{p}_t^+ + \frac{p_+}{2} \kappa \bar{s}_t = \frac{p_-}{2} [1 - \kappa H_t]$. Then, if the price return rate r_t converges to a given value r_{∞} , the price momentum H_t converges to the same value according to Proposition 4, so that $(\tilde{p}_t^- - \frac{p_-}{2} \kappa \bar{s}_t)$ and $(\tilde{p}_t^+ + \frac{p_+}{2} \kappa \bar{s}_t)$ converge too. Nevertheless, there is no proof that the average opinion index \bar{s}_t or the pseudo transition probabilities \tilde{p}_t^- and \tilde{p}_t^+ converge.

When the herding propensity κ (constant) is equal to 0, the problem becomes much simpler, since $\tilde{p}_t^- = \frac{p_-}{2} \in (0,1)$ and $\tilde{p}_t^+ = \frac{p_+}{2} \in (0,1)$, so that $p_t^- = \frac{p_-}{2}$ and $p_t^+ = \frac{p_+}{2}$. Proposition 6 gives:

$$\overline{s}_t = \left[1 - \frac{p_+ + p_-}{2}\right] \overline{s}_{t-1} + \frac{p_- - p_+}{2}$$
(3.5)

If $p_{-} = p_{+} := p$, that is there is no bias amongst noise traders, one finds a simple expression for the average opinion index:

$$\overline{s}_t = [1-p]^t s_0 \tag{3.6}$$

Since $p \in (0,1)$, the average opinion index converges to 0 when there is no herding and no bias.

If $p_{-} \neq p_{+}$, that is there is some bias amongst noise traders, one could notice that:

$$\frac{p_{-} - p_{+}}{p_{-} + p_{+}} = \left[1 - \frac{p_{+} + p_{-}}{2}\right] \left[\frac{p_{-} - p_{+}}{p_{-} + p_{+}}\right] + \frac{p_{-} - p_{+}}{2}$$
(3.7)

Subtracting equation 3.7 from equation 3.5 gives:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{s}_t - \frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{p_+ + p_-}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{s}_{t-1} - \frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+} \end{bmatrix}$$

As a consequence, one finds the following expression for the average opinion index \overline{s}_t :

$$\overline{s}_t = \left[1 - \frac{p_+ + p_-}{2}\right]^t \left[s_0 - \frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+}\right] + \frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+}$$
(3.8)

Since $p_{-} \in (0,1)$ and $p_{+} \in (0,1)$, the average opinion index converges to $\frac{p_{-} - p_{+}}{p_{-} + p_{+}}$ when there is no herding (but some bias). In those conditions, if noise traders are more likened to buy the risky asset than to sell it, that is $p_{-} > p_{+}$, the average opinion index converges to a positive value. One could notice that the case with no bias, that is $p_{-} = p_{+} := p$, can be solved using the previous equation.

To conclude, the average opinion index \overline{s}_t always converge when there is no herding ($\kappa = 0$). When it is no more the case, the problem of convergence becomes much more difficult. Thus, for the following theoretical study of the long-term behavior of the market, it will be assumed that there is convergence of the average opinion index, in addition to the convergence of the price return rate r_t .

3.3 Fixed points of the average opinion index without bias

Let us assume that, in addition to the convergence of the price return rate r_t to the longterm value r_{∞} , the average opinion index \overline{s}_t converges to a given value s^* . Then, in absence of bias, the pseudo transition probabilities converge too and Equations 3.4 give:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_t^- \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^* + r_\infty \right) \right] := \tilde{p}_\infty^- \\ \tilde{p}_t^+ \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^* + r_\infty \right) \right] := \tilde{p}_\infty^+ \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

As a consequence, the true transition probabilities p_t^- and p_t^+ converge too, since they are nothing but saturations of the pseudo transition probabilities. Let us denote their respective limits by p_{∞}^- and p_{∞}^+ . The expression of the average opinion index \bar{s}_t , defined in Proposition 6, gives when $t \to +\infty$:

$$p_{\infty}^{-}(1-s^{*}) = p_{\infty}^{+}(1+s^{*})$$
(3.10)

One could notice that, in the special case where $p_{\infty}^-(1-s^*) = p_{\infty}^+(1+s^*) = 0$, Equation 3.10 is satisfied. This case corresponds to the detailed balance of the master equation 3.3. As it is well known, it provides a sufficient condition to obtain the equilibrium. However, this is not a necessary condition, as we shall see later.

Now that the limits of the pseudo transition probabilities are obtained by Equations 3.9, it is possible to find the limits p_{∞}^- and p_{∞}^+ of the true transition probabilities. The relations between them are given in Equations 3.4. To find those new limits, it is thus necessary to find whether \tilde{p}_{∞}^- and \tilde{p}_{∞}^+ are in the set [0, 1] or not. In the following, we distinguish all possible cases.

• $\left\{\begin{array}{ll} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} < 0\\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} \in [0,1] \end{array} \iff \left\{\begin{array}{ll} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty}\right)\right] < 0\\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty}\right)\right] \in [0,1] \end{array}\right.\right.$

According to the definition of the transition probabilities in Equations 3.4, one finds: $p_{\infty}^{-} = 0$ and $p_{\infty}^{+} = \frac{p}{2} [1 - \kappa (s^* + r_{\infty})]$. Equation 3.10, providing the equilibrium, gives in this particular case:

$$\begin{cases} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^* + r_{\infty}\right)\right] \left(1 + s^*\right) = 0\\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^* + r_{\infty}\right)\right] < 0\\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^* + r_{\infty}\right)\right] \in [0, 1] \end{cases}$$

The solutions for this set of equation and inequalities are the following:

•
$$\kappa < 0$$

$$\begin{cases} 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} < r_{\infty} \le 1 + \frac{1}{\kappa} - \frac{2}{\kappa p} \\ s^* = -1 \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa > 0$

$$\begin{cases} 1 + \frac{1}{\kappa} - \frac{2}{\kappa p} \le r_{\infty} < 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \\ s^* = -1 \end{cases}$$

•
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} < 0 \\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} > 1 \end{cases} \iff \begin{cases} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty} \right) \right] < 0 \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty} \right) \right] > 1 \end{cases}$$

In this case, one finds: $p_{\infty}^- = 0$ and $p_{\infty}^+ = 1$. Equation 3.10 gives:

$$\begin{cases} s^* = -1 \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^* + r_{\infty} \right) \right] < 0 \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^* + r_{\infty} \right) \right] > 1 \end{cases}$$

The solutions for this set of equation and inequalities are the following:

•
$$\kappa < 0$$

$$\begin{cases} r_{\infty} > 1 + \frac{1}{\kappa} - \frac{2}{\kappa p} \\ s^* = -1 \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa > 0$

$$\begin{cases} r_{\infty} < 1 + \frac{1}{\kappa} - \frac{2}{\kappa p} \\ s^* = -1 \end{cases}$$

•
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} \in [0,1] \\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} < 0 \end{cases} \iff \begin{cases} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty} \right) \right] \in [0,1] \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty} \right) \right] < 0 \end{cases}$$

The transition probabilities are thus: $p_{\infty}^- = \frac{p}{2} [1 + \kappa (s^* + r_{\infty})]$ and $p_{\infty}^+ = 0$. Equation 3.10 gives:

$$\begin{cases} \left[1 + \kappa \ (s^* \ + \ r_{\infty})\right] \left(1 - s^*\right) = 0\\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \ (s^* \ + \ r_{\infty})\right] \in \ [0, 1]\\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \ (s^* \ + \ r_{\infty})\right] < 0 \end{cases}$$

The solutions for this set of equation and inequalities are the following:

•
$$\kappa < 0$$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{2}{\kappa p} - \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \le r_{\infty} < \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \\ s^* = +1 \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa > 0$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 < r_{\infty} \le \frac{2}{\kappa p} - \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \\ s^* = +1 \end{cases}$$

•
$$\left\{\begin{array}{ll} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} \in [0,1] \\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} \in [0,1] \end{array} \iff \left\{\begin{array}{ll} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty}\right)\right] \in [0,1] \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty}\right)\right] \in [0,1] \end{array}\right.\right.$$

One should notice that this case is different than the detailed balance of the master equation 3.3. Here, the transition probabilities are: $p_{\infty}^- = \frac{p}{2} [1 + \kappa (s^* + r_{\infty})]$ and $p_{\infty}^+ = \frac{p}{2} [1 - \kappa (s^* + r_{\infty})]$. Equation 3.10 gives:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} (\kappa - 1) \; s^* \; + \; \kappa \; r_{\infty} \; = \; 0 \\ \frac{p}{2} \; [1 + \kappa \; (s^* \; + \; r_{\infty})] \; \in \; [0, 1] \\ \frac{p}{2} \; [1 - \kappa \; (s^* \; + \; r_{\infty})] \; \in \; [0, 1] \end{array} \right.$$

The solutions for this set of equation and inequalities are the following:

•
$$\kappa < 0$$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \le r_{\infty} \le 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \\ s^* = \frac{\kappa r_{\infty}}{1 - \kappa} \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa = 0$

$$\begin{cases} r_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R} \\ s^* = 0 \end{cases}$$
• $0 < \kappa < 1$

$$\begin{cases} 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \le r_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \\ s^* = \frac{\kappa r_{\infty}}{1 - \kappa} \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa = 1$

$$\begin{cases} r_{\infty} = 0 \\ s^* \in [-1, 1] \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa > 1$

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \le r_{\infty} \le 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \\ s^* = \frac{\kappa r_{\infty}}{1 - \kappa} \end{cases}$$

•
$$\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} > 1 \\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} < 0 \end{cases} \iff \begin{cases} \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty} \right) \right] > 1 \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \left(s^{*} + r_{\infty} \right) \right] < 0 \end{cases}$$

In this case, the transition probabilities are: $p_{\infty}^- = 1$ and $p_{\infty}^+ = 0$. Equation 3.10 gives:

 $\left\{ \begin{array}{l} s^{*} \ = \ 1 \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 + \kappa \ (s^{*} \ + \ r_{\infty}) \right] \ > \ 1 \\ \frac{p}{2} \left[1 - \kappa \ (s^{*} \ + \ r_{\infty}) \right] \ < \ 0 \end{array} \right.$

The solutions for this set of equation and inequalities are the following:

•
$$\kappa < 0$$

$$\begin{cases} r_{\infty} < \frac{2}{\kappa p} - \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \\ s^* = 1 \end{cases}$$
• $\kappa > 0$

$$\begin{cases} r_{\infty} > \frac{2}{\kappa p} - \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \\ s^* = 1 \end{cases}$$

The following cases are not possible, since Equations 3.9 give: $\tilde{p}_{\infty}^- + \tilde{p}_{\infty}^+ = p \in (0, 1)$.

• $\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} < 0\\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} < 0 \end{cases}$ • $\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} \in [0, 1]\\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} > 1 \end{cases}$ • $\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} > 1\\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} \in [0, 1] \end{cases}$ • $\begin{cases} \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{-} > 1\\ \tilde{p}_{\infty}^{+} > 1 \end{cases}$

Now that all cases have been studied, it is necessary to regroup all of them, depending on the values of the herding propensity κ and the long-term price return rate r_{∞} .

• $\kappa < 0$ • $r_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \rightarrow s^* = 1$ • $\frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \leq r_{\infty} \leq 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \rightarrow s^* = \frac{\kappa r_{\infty}}{1 - \kappa}$ • $r_{\infty} \geq 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \rightarrow s^* = -1$ • $\kappa = 0$ • $r_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R} \rightarrow s^* = 0$ • $0 < \kappa < 1$ • $r_{\infty} \leq 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \rightarrow s^* = -1$ • $1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \leq r_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \rightarrow s^* = \frac{\kappa r_{\infty}}{1 - \kappa}$ • $r_{\infty} \geq \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \rightarrow s^* = 1$ • $\kappa = 1$ • $\kappa = 1$

}

•
$$r_{\infty} = 0 \quad \rightarrow s^* \in [-1, 1]$$

• $r_{\infty} > 0 \quad \rightarrow s^* = 1$
• $\kappa > 1$
• $r_{\infty} < \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \quad \rightarrow s^* = -1$
• $\frac{1}{\kappa} - 1 \le r_{\infty} \le 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \quad \rightarrow s^* \in \{-1, \frac{\kappa r_{\infty}}{1 - \kappa}, 1 \le r_{\infty} > 1 - \frac{1}{\kappa} \quad \rightarrow s^* = 1$

In order to get a clear idea of how the fixed points s^* behave when the long-term price return rate r_{∞} change, this evolution is shown in Figure 3.1. All the cases on the value of the herding propensity κ , discussed above, are present, except the simple case $\kappa = 0$, for which no matter the value of r_{∞} , the fixed point s^* will always stay equal to 0. This is not surprising, since it has been shown in 3.2 that, if $\kappa = 0$, the average opinion index \bar{s}_t is sure to converge and, if there is no bias, it converges to 0. From the derivation of the fixed points s^* above and from Figure 3.1, one could notice two significant characteristics of the average opinion index \bar{s}_t . On the one hand, for $\kappa = 1$ and $r_{\infty} = 0$, all the values in [-1, 1]are fixed points of \bar{s}_t . On the other hand, for $\kappa > 1$ and r_{∞} sufficiently near 0, there is coexistence of 3 different fixed points. In this sense, the case $\kappa = 1$ can be viewed as an Ising phase transition for the average opinion index \bar{s}_t . The case $\kappa > 1$ corresponds to the hysteresis cycle in the presence of a magnetic field, played either by r_{∞} or the long-term value of the price momentum H_t , since they have the same behavior in the long run.

3.4 A market without dividends

As it has been shown in Chapter 2, the long-term price return rate r_{∞} of the risky asset seems to be controlled by the growth rate r_d of the dividends. Thus, a significant question would be: What happens to the long-term price return rate when there is no dividend at all?

To answer that question, we shall take $r_d = 0$ and $d_t = 0$ for all t. Doing so, the risky fraction x_t^f of the fundamentalists becomes a constant:

$$x_t^f = x_{\min}^f = \frac{E_{r_t} - r_f}{\gamma \sigma^2}$$
(3.11)

This constant risky fraction characterizes the optimism of the fundamentalists about the risky asset. Indeed, the term $E_{r_t} - r_f$ is about how much more than the risk-free asset they think the risky asset would return. This 'pure' optimism is created at the beginning of the market (t = 0) and remains constant in the future. It is rescaled by the global risk they take by investing in the risky asset, that is the constant relative risk-aversion γ



Figure 3.1: Fixed points of the average opinion index \bar{s}_t as functions of the constant herding propensity κ and the long-term price return rate r_{∞} . The specific values taken for the herding propensity are the following: (a) $\kappa = -3$, (b) $\kappa = 0.5$, (c) $\kappa = 1$, (d) $\kappa = 1.5$. Those values have been chosen so that all possible fixed points appear when $r_{\infty} \in [-1.5, 1.5]$. The green dashed lines correspond to the threshold values of the longterm price return rate r_{∞} , derived in 3.3. For $\kappa = 1$ and $r_{\infty} = 0$, all the values in [-1, 1]are fixed points of the average opinion index \bar{s}_t . For $\kappa > 1$ and r_{∞} sufficiently near 0, there is coexistence of 3 different fixed points.

and the uncertainty they have about their prediction of the excess return rate, which is $\sigma^2 := Var_t[r_t - r_f]$. Once again, those quantities are constant with respect to time. They are simple guess made by fundamentalists who expect those to be accurate, at least in the long-run, so that they keep investing a minimum fraction of their wealth in the risky asset. In the special case where there is no dividend, they cannot adjust their risky fraction since they do not have any external information about the market – modeled by the dividends – so that they keep investing a constant fraction of their wealth for all future trading days. Then, their strategy is completely determined by their initial optimism about the risky asset, at the beginning of the market.

When there is no dividend, price returns are the only source of returns for the risky asset. In this sense, in terms of evolution of the traders' wealths, there is a clear competition between the price return rate $r_t := \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}} - 1$ and the risk-free return rate r_f . The latter is a good benchmark for the price return rate r_t , since it is the rate which one trader can get without any risk and uncertainty. If the risky asset has a return rate r_t less or equal than r_f in average, it is of no interest since traders can earn more or equivalent without any risk. One should notice that, usually, dividends are there to compensate some losses. However, since here is considered a market without dividend, that is without external information for fundamentalists, one finds the following dynamics of the traders' wealths, showing a strict competition between r_t and r_f :

$$\begin{cases} W_t^f = W_{t-1}^f \left[1 + r_f + x_{\min}^f (r_t - r_f) \right] \\ W_t^n = W_{t-1}^n \left[1 + r_f + x_{t-1}^n (r_t - r_f) \right] \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

3.5 A market without fundamentalists

For the sake of simplicity, let us focus on the simpler case where fundamentalists do not show any optimism about the risky asset, at the beginning of the market. It means that their long-run minimum constant risky fraction x_{\min}^{f} is equal to 0, and, in absence of dividends, one finds using Equation 3.11:

$$x_t^f = 0 \quad \text{for all } t \tag{3.13}$$

In absence of external information about the market and of 'a priori' optimism about the risky asset at the beginning of the market, fundamentalists do not have any reason to invest in it. Then, they invest, at each time step, all of their wealth in the risk-free asset. This fact can also be observed in Equations 3.12 using $x_{\min}^f = 0$:

$$W_t^f = W_{t-1}^f [1+r_f] \quad \Rightarrow \quad W_t^f = W_0^f [1+r_f]^t \tag{3.14}$$

Thus, fundamentalists stay away from the risky asset, which means that there is no possible trade: noise traders cannot exchange their shares of the stock to anyone. As a consequence, they possess a constant number of shares with respect to time. Let us recall that the number of shares n_t^i that a trader *i* possess at time *t* is nothing but the amount of wealth they have invested in the risky asset, divided by the current price of the risky asset:

$$n_t^i = \frac{x_t^i W_t^i}{P_t} \tag{3.15}$$

Obviously, since their risky fraction is constant equal to 0, fundamentalists do not possess any share. The no-trade situation can also be seen using the excess demands $\Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^{f}$ and $\Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^{n}$ of fundamentalists and noise traders, in terms of shares. The conservation of shares gives:

$$\Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^f + \Delta D_{t-1 \to t}^n = (n_t^f - n_{t-1}^f) + (n_t^n - n_{t-1}^n) = n_t^n - n_{t-1}^n = 0$$

Then, noise traders keep a constant number of shares over time:

$$n_t^n = n_{t-1}^n = n_0^n = \frac{x_0^n W_0^n}{P_0}$$
(3.16)

One should keep in mind that those shares are nothing but a matter of initialization. If the initial risky fraction x_0^n of noise traders is equal to 0, then no one has invested in the risky asset. As a consequence, the conservation of shares cannot provide future prices for the risky asset, which seems reasonable. Let us recall that the risky fraction of noise traders is just a rescaling of their opinion index $s_t \in [-1, 1]$, so that $x_t^n \in [0, 1]$ for all t. If $0 < x_0^n \le 1$, it means that noise traders have invested a part of their wealth, at the beginning of the market, to get some shares of the risky asset, and once it is done, they are the only share-holders of the stock in the market, so that they cannot buy more shares or sell their current shares: they are completely stuck and cannot do anything if it happens that they lose too much of their wealth because of the risky asset.

As long as prices are well defined – and it should always be the case, otherwise the market stops –, Equation 3.16 gives, when using the dynamics of the noise traders' wealth in Equations 3.12:

$$\frac{x_t^n \left[1 + r_f + x_{t-1}^n \left(\frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}} - 1 - r_f\right)\right]}{P_t} W_{t-1}^n = \frac{x_{t-1}^n}{P_{t-1}} W_{t-1}^n$$
(3.17)

At this point, it seems relevant to know whether the noise traders' wealth can become 0 or not.

Proposition 7. The noise traders' wealth cannot reach 0, except if prices have fallen to 0, if current dividends are equal to 0 and if noise traders were completely invested in the risky asset:

$$\begin{cases} W_{t_0-1}^n \neq 0 \\ W_{t_0}^n = 0 \\ P_{t_0-1} \neq 0 \end{cases} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} P_{t_0} = 0 \\ d_{t_0} = 0 \\ x_{t_0-1}^n = 1 \end{cases}$$

Proof. Using the general dynamics of the noise traders' wealth, one finds:

$$W_{t_0}^n = W_{t_0-1}^n \left[1 + r_f + x_{t_0-1}^n \left(\frac{P_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}} - 1 - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}}\right)\right] = 0$$

Then, as $W_{t_0-1}^n \neq 0$, the term in brackets must be equal to 0. Denoting $r_{t_0} = \frac{P_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}} - 1$ as the current price return rate leads to:

$$x_{t_0-1}^n \ (r_{t_0} - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}}) \ = \ -1 - r_f$$

The term in parenthesis cannot be equal to 0 since it would lead to $0 = -1 - r_f$, which is not possible when $r_f > 0$ (the realistic case which is considered in this thesis). As a consequence, it provides an expression for the risky fraction at $t_0 - 1$:

$$x_{t_0-1}^n = \frac{-1 - r_f}{r_{t_0} - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}}}$$

Let us recall that, for any $t, x_t^n \in [0, 1]$. This implies that $r_{t_0} - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}} < 0$. Let us now focus on the fact that $x_{t_0-1}^n \leq 1$, that is:

$$\begin{aligned} r_{t_0} - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0 - 1}} &\leq -1 - r_f \\ r_{t_0} &\leq -1 - \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0 - 1}} \end{aligned}$$

The lower bound for the price return rate r_t is -1. If $r_t = \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}} - 1 = -1$, it means that $P_t = 0$. In words, it says that prices have fallen by 100% of their past value. Having said that and recalling that dividends are always non negative, the previous inequality leads to:

$$\begin{cases} r_{t_0} = -1 \\ d_{t_0} = 0 \\ x_{t_0-1}^n = \frac{-1 - r_f}{r_{t_0} - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0-1}}} \end{cases} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} P_{t_0} = 0 \\ d_{t_0} = 0 \\ x_{t_0-1}^n = 1 \end{cases}$$

This result could seem to be obvious since as long as noise traders have a fraction of their wealth invested in the risk-free asset, they get a security against losses. Besides, as long as they receive a dividend or that they have some shares, still valuable, of the risky asset, they should keep a total wealth non equal to 0. Nevertheless, the real reason which proves this result is the fact that the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders cannot exceed 1. For instance, it is possible that the risky fraction x_t^n of fundamentalists be more than 1. One could find this point surprising, but if it happens, it only means that they have borrowed some money to invest into the risky asset, thinking that this strategy would be profitable. Thus, it is no longer necessary that prices fall by 100% to see the fundamentalists' wealth vanish. Following the previous proof, the conditions leading the fundamentalists' wealth to vanish at time t_0 are:

$$\begin{cases} r_{t_0} < r_f - \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0 - 1}} \\ x_{t_0 - 1}^n = \frac{-1 - r_f}{r_{t_0} - r_f + \frac{d_{t_0}}{P_{t_0 - 1}}} \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

Let us come back to where the conservation of shares, only held by noise traders, has led us, that is Equation 3.17. In absence of dividends, as long as prices are well defined (strictly positive prices for instance), Proposition 7 states that the noise traders' wealth cannot suddenly become equal to 0. Thus, since their initial wealth W_0^n is strictly positive – otherwise, they would not exist, at the market level at least –, their successive wealth values stay non zero, as long as prices are well defined. As a consequence, Equation 3.17 leads to:

$$\frac{x_t^n (1+r_f) (1-x_{t-1}^n)}{P_t} = \frac{x_{t-1}^n (1-x_t^n)}{P_{t-1}} \quad \text{for all } t \ge 1$$
(3.19)

From this equation, one could observe that, if either x_t^n or x_{t-1}^n is equal to 0 or 1, the price P_t , at time t, of the risky asset is not clearly defined. In particular, it is true for t = 0. The case $x_0^n = 0$ is not relevant and has been discussed earlier: if no trader invest in the risky asset at time t = 0, it is not surprising that the price at the next time step is not defined. However, what is more surprising is that if fundamentalists stay away from the risky asset (no dividends and no optimism) and if noise traders decide to invest all of their wealth in the risky asset at the beginning of the market (that is $x_0^n = 1$), future prices are not defined. Even taking $x_0^n \in (0,1)$ is not enough to get all future prices well defined; it depends completely on the stochastic behavior of noise traders, who are able to choose suddenly, at any time, a risky fraction equal to 0 or 1. Nevertheless, it is assumed in the following that $x_t^n \neq 0$ and $x_t^n \neq 1$ for any time t, in order to study the behavior of the market in those conditions. It may seem to be a strong assumption, but one should notice that, when it is not the case, the market just stops, as prices are no longer defined. In this sense, it provides an excellent control parameter of the latter assumption whereas it may sometimes lead to a finite-time market. Using the latter hypothesis, one finds:

$$\frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}} = (1+r_f) \frac{x_t^n (1-x_{t-1}^n)}{x_{t-1}^n (1-x_t^n)}$$
(3.20)

Now that the price equation has been established in absence of fundamentalists, let us focus on the long-term price return rate r_{∞} . As said before, it is assumed that there is convergence of the price return rate $r_t = \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}} - 1 \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} r_{\infty}$. Consequently, there is convergence of the fraction at the right side of Equation 3.20. We denote this fraction by F_t , which satisfies $F_t > 0$. If it converges to 1, the long-term price return rate r_{∞} is equal to the risk-free interest rate r_f . The latter represents the 'price of the money' and should be a minimum for the long-term price return rate r_{∞} ; otherwise, it is better to invest in the risk-free asset in order to be sure to earn a constant return r_f , without any risk or uncertainty. But what happens if F_t converges to a value different than 1 ?

Proposition 8. $F_t \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha > 1$ if and only if $x_t^n \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} 1$ and $x_t^n = \frac{1}{\alpha} x_{t-1}^n + 1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} + o(1 - x_t^n)$. Besides, $F_t \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha < 1$ if and only if $x_t^n \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} 0$ and $x_t^n \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha x_{t-1}^n$. *Proof.* Let $F_t = \frac{x_t^n (1 - x_{t-1}^n)}{x_{t-1}^n (1 - x_t^n)} \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha$ with $\alpha \neq 1$. Denoting $y_t := \frac{x_t^n}{1 - x_t^n}$, one finds: $y_t \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha y_{t-1}$ In addition, as long as $x_0^n \in (0, 1)$, it has been previously shown that $x_t^n \in (0, 1)$ for all t, so that $y_t > 0$ for all t.

• $\alpha > 1$

Since $y_t > 0$, one finds, using the asymptotic relation between y_t and y_{t-1} , that $y_t = \frac{x_t^n}{1-x_t^n} = \frac{1}{1-x_t^n} - 1 \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} +\infty$. Thus, the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders converges and $x_t^n \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} +\infty$. Thus, it leads to a simpler equivalent of y_t : $y_t = \frac{x_t^n}{1-x_t^n} \sim \frac{1}{1-x_t^n}$. Comparing y_t to y_{t-1} then gives:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 1 - x_t^n & \sim & \frac{1}{\alpha} \ (1 - x_{t-1}^n) \\ x_t^n & = & \frac{1}{\alpha} \ x_{t-1}^n \ + \ 1 \ - \ \frac{1}{\alpha} \ + \ o(1 - x_t^n) \end{array}$$

The converse follows the same proof.

• $\alpha < 1$

As said before, the fraction F_t is strictly positive, so that $0 \leq \alpha < 1$ in this special case. Once again, since $y_t > 0$, the asymptotic relation between y_t and y_{t-1} gives: $y_t = \frac{x_t^n}{1-x_t^n} = \frac{1}{1-x_t^n} - 1 \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} 0$. Thus, the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders converges and $x_t^n \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} 0$. In the same spirit than the previous case, one finds a simpler equivalent: $y_t = \frac{x_t^n}{1-x_t^n} \sim x_t^n$. Comparing y_t to y_{t-1} then gives:

 $x_t^n \sim \alpha x_{t-1}^n$

The converse follows the same proof.

As a direct consequence of Proposition 8, the long-term price return rate r_{∞} is almost always equal to the risk-free interest rate r_f , and if it is not the case, it means that the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders has converged to 0 or to 1. This condition of convergence to 0 or 1 is not a sufficient condition, as states Proposition 8: a special asymptotic behavior of the risky fraction x_t^n is required. Nevertheless, it is a necessary condition. From Equation 3.20, one could notice that, if the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders converges to a value different than 0 or 1, the long-term price return rate r_{∞} is equal to the risk-free interest rate r_f . If the fraction F_t converges to $\alpha < 1$, it means that the risky fraction x_t^n converges to 0 and that r_{∞} is lower than r_f . Similarly, if F_t converges to $\alpha > 1$, the risky fraction converges to 1 and r_{∞} is greater than r_f . Let us recall that it has been supposed that $x_t^n \neq 0$ and that $x_t^n \neq 1$ for all t. One should notice that there is a significant difference between converging to 0 or 1 and taking the value 0 or 1 at a given time t_0 . Indeed, there are many ways in which the risky fraction x_t^n can converge to 0 or 1, without ever taking one of those values.

In the following, we shall try to find what happens when the risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders converges to 0 or 1 and hope that it is enough to get $F_t \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha < 1$ (that is $r_{\infty} < r_f$) or $F_t \xrightarrow[+\infty]{} \alpha > 1$ (that is $r_{\infty} > r_f$).

The problem of convergence of the average opinion index \overline{s}_t (and thus the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders) has been discussed in 3.2. It has been seen that, if the herding propensity $\kappa = 0$, then the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n always converge. If there is no bias amongst noise traders, that is $p_+ = p_- = p \in (0, 1)$, it converges to $\frac{1}{2}$; otherwise, it depends on the bias. Even if it is not the 'true' risky fraction x_t^n , it can provide a good first approximation. Let us first focus on the special case of a null herding propensity κ . As explained before, in order to obtain the convergence of the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n to 0 or 1, it is now necessary to introduce some bias. Let us recall the two expressions of the average opinion index \overline{s}_t in presence of bias, derived in 3.2:

$$\begin{cases} \overline{s}_t = \left[1 - \frac{p_+ + p_-}{2}\right] \overline{s}_{t-1} + \frac{p_- - p_+}{2} \\ \overline{s}_t = \left[1 - \frac{p_+ + p_-}{2}\right]^t \left[s_0 - \frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+}\right] + \frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+} \end{cases}$$
(3.21)

In this special case, the average opinion index \overline{s}_t converges to the value $\frac{p_- - p_+}{p_- + p_+}$. Since the average risky fraction $\overline{x}_t^n = \frac{1 + \overline{s}_t}{2}$ is only a rescaling of \overline{s}_t , one finds the following conditions on p_- and p_+ to obtain the convergence of \overline{x}_t^n to 0 or 1:

$$\begin{cases} \overline{x}_t^n \longrightarrow 0 & \text{if and only if} \quad p_- = 0 & \text{and} \quad p_+ \in (0,1) \\ \\ \overline{x}_t^n \longrightarrow 1 & \text{if and only if} \quad p_+ = 0 & \text{and} \quad p_- \in (0,1) \end{cases}$$
(3.22)

One should notice that it has been supposed since 3.2 that both p_{-} and p_{+} belong to the set (0,1). But one of those values can be equal to 0, as long as the other one is non zero. Besides, the fact that they cannot be greater than 1 does not change much, as long as they are less than 2 in this special case. If $p_{-} = 0$, one finds, using Equations 3.4, that $p_t^-(s_t, H_t) = 0$ for all t. Let us recall that the latter transition probability characterizes the ability of one noise trader to buy the risky asset, when fully invested in the risk-free asset. Consequently, if $p_{-} = 0$, no noise trader is able to buy the risky asset, so that, from an initial value $x_0^n \in (0,1)$, the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n , that is the amount of wealth invested in the risky asset, converges to 0. Indeed, from Equations 3.4, one finds, in the case of a null herding propensity κ , the expression of the transition probability $p_t^+(s_t, H_t)$ of selling the risky asset: $p_t^+ = \frac{p_+}{2} \neq 0$. Thus, there is a null probability of buying the asset and a non zero probability of selling it, leading to a risky fraction converging to 0. Similarly, if $p_+ = 0$, one finds a null probability of selling the asset and a non zero probability of buying it, when invested in the risk-free asset, leading to a risky fraction converging to 1. One might think that the meaning of those transition probabilities is ambiguous, given that noise traders possess a constant number of shares of the risky asset and cannot trade them with fundamentalists, who stay away from the risky asset. Nevertheless, one should notice that those transition probabilities do not affect the number of shares, held by noise traders, but only their risky fraction, that is the fraction of wealth that they invest in the risky asset. In presence of fundamentalists, the change in their risky fraction can lead to the acquisition of new shares, as one can observe, regarding the conservation of shares. In this particular case, this is not possible. In this sense, noise traders cannot trade any share, but they decide at each time step how much wealth they will invest in the constant number of shares they possess. Since they share their total wealth, each noise trader has the same weight in that decision. One can picture this situation as a committee, holding the only shares of the stock and stuck with them, which vote equally at each time step whether they want to stay invested in the risky asset or not. Obviously, if no one of them wants to stay invested in the risky asset, that is $x_t^n = 0$, there is a problem, as it has been underlined before, given that they cannot sell any share. In a nutshell, the transition probabilities affect the risky fraction of noise traders, which, in turn, affect the price of the risky asset in such a way that noise traders always keep a constant total number of shares.

Let us first focus on the case $\overline{x}_t^n \xrightarrow[+\infty]{+\infty} 1$, that is $p_+ = 0$ and $p_- \in (0,1)$. Using Equations 3.21 and the definition of the average risky fraction $\overline{x}_t^n = \frac{1+\overline{s}_t}{2}$, one finds:

$$\begin{cases} \overline{x}_{t}^{n} = \left[1 - \frac{p_{-}}{2}\right] \overline{x}_{t-1}^{n} + \frac{p_{-}}{2} \\ \overline{x}_{t}^{n} = \left[1 - \frac{p_{-}}{2}\right]^{t} \left[x_{0}^{n} - 1\right] + 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

Thus, the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders converges exponentially to 1, with a characteristic time:

$$\tau_1 = \frac{1}{\log(\frac{1}{1 - \frac{p_-}{2}})} \tag{3.24}$$

Such a process converges to 1, is always different 0 or 1 as long as $x_0^n \in (0,1)$ and satisfies the asymptotic behavior required by Proposition 8: $\overline{x}_t^n = \frac{1}{\alpha} \overline{x}_{t-1}^n + 1 - \frac{1}{\alpha}$ with $\alpha = \frac{1}{1-\frac{p_-}{2}} > 1$. Hence, in those conditions, Proposition 8 states that the fraction $F_t(\overline{x}_t^n, \overline{x}_{t-1}^n)$ converges to $\alpha = \frac{1}{1-\frac{p_-}{2}}$. As a consequence, Equation 3.20 gives the long-term price return rate r_{∞} :

$$r_{\infty}^{1} = \frac{r_{f} + \frac{p_{-}}{2}}{1 - \frac{p_{-}}{2}} > r_{f}$$
(3.25)

In brief, in absence of fundamentalists and of herding ($\kappa = 0$), if noise traders have a null probability of not being interested in the risky asset and a non zero probability of being interested in it, they manage to outperform the price of the money, characterized by the risk-free interest rate r_f .

One should notice that this result is obtained using the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n , instead of the stochastic risky fraction x_t^n , so that it is an approximate solution. Indeed, while the average risky fraction has previously been useful to better understand the market behavior, one could observe that the fraction F_t is of second-order in the risky fraction. Then, the stochasticity cannot be ignored and will have a certain impact on the market. To see this impact, we shall use a numerical simulation, given by the algorithm described in 2.4. Let us recall that it takes an initial configuration, then does the simulation of the first seed until the maximum possible time of simulation t_{max} . In this case, the initial configuration is given, as usual, by Table 2.1 of Chapter2, except the following quantities: $d_t = 0$ for all t, $r_d = 0$, $\sigma_d = 0$, $\kappa = 0$ (constant process), $E_{r_t} = r_f$ and $p_+ = 0$. It corresponds exactly to the case described above, that is a market without dividend, without fundamentalists, without herding and with an average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders converging to 1. Here, the time limit of simulation is due to the risky fraction x_t^n taking the value 1 since it has been seen before that, if it happens, the market stops. Indeed, the average \overline{x}_t^n converges to 1 so it seems really likely that the real risky fraction takes the value 1 at some time. Furthermore, using the complete simulation of the first seed, the algorithm finds the time t_c from which the cumulative moving average of the price return rate, that is $\langle r_t \rangle := \frac{1}{t} \sum_{i=1}^{t} r_i$, stays inside a convergent interval of 1% of the final value $\langle r_{t_{max}} \rangle$, then does the simulations, until t_c , for 100 different seeds, takes the new final values of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ of each seed and computes the average over the seeds, denoted by $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. On Figure 3.2, the first plot represents the 'infinite' cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ as a function of p_{-} , in the conditions described above. The error bars correspond to the range of values taken by the final values of $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ of each seed, that is before taking the average $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. On the same plot, one can also observe the behavior of r_{∞}^1 , to compare with $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. To get a better idea, the second plot shows the relative difference between those two quantities. One can notice that, even if their respective behavior look more or less alike, the stochasticity induces significant differences between the values taken by them. The third plot compares the characteristic time τ_1 , defined in Equation 3.24, to the time t_c of convergence of the cumulative price return rate. From this plot, one can conclude that there is no problem of convergence for the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders in the simulations. The last plot shows the rescaled standard deviation of the final values of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ for the 100 considered seeds, that is before taking the average $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ over those seeds.

In the case of a non zero herding propensity ($\kappa \neq 0$) and in absence of bias ($p_{-} = p_{+} := p$), it has been seen in 2.2 that, in order to get an average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders converging to 1, it is necessary to choose first the range of κ . The simplest case is $0 < \kappa < 1$, for which \overline{x}_{t}^{n} converges to 1 – for simplicity, it has been assumed since 2.2 that the average risky fraction x_t^n of noise traders converges to its fixed point – if the long-term price return rate r_{∞} satisfies: $r_{\infty} \geq \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$. However, we do not have any control on the long-term price return rate. Assuming that it would be positive, one should notice that, if $r_{\infty} < \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$ (that is an average risky fraction converging to a value lower than 1), then the long-term price return rate r_{∞} would be equal to the risk-free interest rate r_f , according to the previous discussion. Then, it is possible to force the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n to converge to 1, by setting $r_f > \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$ for the considered range of κ values. The previous inequality gives in our special case: $\frac{1}{1+r_f} < \kappa < 1$. Usual values for r_f , according to Table 2.1, are around 10^{-4} , giving a really small interval for κ values. To address this issue, we choose an arbitrary value of 1 for r_f (and thus, $E_{r_t} = 1$ since $x_{\min}^f = 0$). One should notice that it does not change much the general behavior of the market but makes it possible to get a larger panel of κ values. One must keep in mind that $\frac{1}{1+r_f} < \kappa < 1$ is not a necessary condition to obtain the convergence of the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n to 1: it is only a sufficient condition. The 'real' condition which determines completely the convergence to 1 is $r_{\infty} \geq \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$, as it has been highlighted earlier.



Figure 3.2: Long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ in a market without dividends, without fundamentalists, without herding ($\kappa = 0$) and with an average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders converging to 1. The quantity $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ has been computed by the algorithm described in 2.4, using 100 different seeds. All parameters are taken from Table 2.1 of Chapter 2, except the following quantities: $d_t = 0$ for all $t, r_d = 0, \sigma_d = 0, \kappa = 0$ (constant process), $E_{r_t} = r_f$ and $p_+ = 0$. Those values are necessary to obtain the particular considered market. The parameter p_{-} corresponds to the x-axis: it characterizes the probability for noise traders of being interested in the risky asset. The first plot shows its impact on the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ and on the theoretical longterm price return rate r_{∞}^1 of Equation 3.25, derived using the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders, instead of the stochastic risky fraction x_t^n . The error bars correspond to the range of values taken by the final values of $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ of each seed, that is before taking the average $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$. The second plot shows the relative difference between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ and r_{∞}^{1} . suggesting that the stochasticity has a significant impact on the market. The third plot compares the characteristic time τ_1 , defined in Equation 3.24, to the time t_c of convergence of the cumulative price return rate, used by the algorithm of Chapter 2. It shows that the time of simulation is sufficient, compared to the time of convergence of the average risky fraction \overline{x}_t^n of noise traders. The last plot shows the rescaled standard deviation of the final values of the cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{t_c} \rangle$ for the 100 considered seeds, that is before taking the average $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ over those seeds.

On Figure 3.3, we have represented the long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ as a function of the herding propensity κ , in the conditions described above. Its computation follows the same process than the one described in 2.4. For each value of κ , 100 different seeds have been used for the simulation. The parameters are all taken from the basic parameter set, provided in Table 2.1, except the following which corresponds to our particular considered conditions: $d_t = 0$ for all $t, r_d = 0, \sigma_d = 0, E_{r_t} = r_f = 1$ and $p_{-} = p_{+} = 0.2$. On both panels of Figure 3.3, the error bars correspond to the uncertainty over the seeds. The red straight line represents the value of r_f whereas the blue dashed line depicts the threshold value $\frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$, derived in 2.3. One could observe the transition between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle = r_f$ and $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle > r_f$ depending on the values of κ . The second panel is nothing but a zoom of the first panel around the transition. Thus, one could notice that there exists some values of κ for which $r_f < \langle r_{\infty} \rangle < \frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$. It suggests that the stochasticity have a certain impact on the fraction F_t . Nevertheless, the threshold value gives a quite good estimate of the true one. For $r_f < \langle r_{\infty} \rangle$, the maximum time $t_{\rm max}$ of computation is due to the risky fraction x_t^n taking the value 1. The average risky fraction \bar{x}_t^n converging to 1, it seems very likely that the stochastic risky fraction takes the value 1 at some time. According to Figure 3.3, it is thus possible to view the herding propensity as a control parameter leading to a phase transition in the special case of a market without dividends and without fundamentalists.



Figure 3.3: Long-term cumulative price return rate $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ in a market without dividends, without fundamentalists, with herding but no bias. The quantity $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle$ has been computed by the process described in 2.4, using 100 different seeds. All parameters are taken from the basic parameter set provided in Table 2.1, except the following quantities: $d_t = 0$ for all $t, r_d = 0, \sigma_d = 0, E_{r_t} = r_f = 1$ and $p_+ = p_- = 0.2$. Those values are necessary to obtain the particular considered market. On both panels, the error bars correspond to the uncertainty over the seeds. The red straight line represents the value of r_f whereas the blue dashed line depicts the threshold value $\frac{1}{\kappa} - 1$, derived in 2.3. One could observe the transition between $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle = r_f$ and $\langle r_{\infty} \rangle > r_f$ depending on the values of κ . The second panel is a zoom of the first panel around the transition. For $r_f < \langle r_{\infty} \rangle$, the maximum time t_{max} of computation is due to the risky fraction x_t^n taking the value 1.

Conclusion

The goal of the present thesis was to study the long-term behavior of an artificial market, composed of fundamentalists and noise traders. The model has two assets, a constant interest rate risk-free asset and a dividend paying risky asset, whose price is determined by the market clearing condition. Fundamentalists have a long-term strategy, corresponding to their optimism about the risky asset, and a short-term one, based on the dynamics of the dividend-price ratio. The price following the same growth than the dividends is thus a benchmark, called the *fundamental value*. They buy the risky asset mostly when it is undervalued, that is whose price is below that fundamental value, and they sell it mostly when it is overvalued, that is whose price is above the fundamental value. Noise traders are completely different investors. They are trend-followers and subject to social imitation.

In presence of dividends, noise traders do not have a persistent impact on the market. During bubbles, they outperform fundamentalists but fail to maintain their advantage, because of the subsequent crash. They are only 'noise' compared to the strategy of fundamentalists. Thus, the latter manage to drive the price of the risky asset to its fundamental value. The long-term price return rate then follows the mean growth rate of dividends. The corresponding simulations in 2.4 may not be fully accurate, mainly since we did not find any trustful indicator of convergence and since simulations until a maximum time of computation might not be pertinent. Nevertheless, there is still a strong dependence on the mean growth rate of dividends for the risky asset, which supports their external field aspect, as explained in [13]. One solution to get clearer ideas about the exact relation between the mean growth rate r_d of dividends and the long-term price return rate r_{∞} would be to do a prior theoretical study. It is in that spirit that the following chapter (3.2 especially) was meant to be more theoretical, in addition to the curiosity of finding what drives the risky asset when there is no external field.

In absence of dividends and of fundamentalists, the prior study of the fixed points of the average risky fraction of noise traders has been of significant help. Without herding, only trivial solutions lead to a long-term price return rate r_{∞} different than the 'price of the money' r_f . However, when there is some herding, that is imitative feedback and trend-following, noise traders manage to outperform this benchmark r_f , depending on the strength they allow for this herding. In this sense, the lonely noise can become constructive.

A lot of remaining questions about this model are still to be answered. For instance, still without dividends, what happens if fundamentalists invest their constant risky fraction x_{\min}^f of wealth? They might perhaps force the long-term price return rate r_{∞} to its lower

base line value r_f . But it is also possible that they enrich the long-term behavior of the risky asset.

In this sense, the issue covered by the present thesis has still much to reveal, so that, since the questions involved are rich in terms of complexity, there should be a second more intensive study, given the broad ramifications. This future work should be quite theoretical (in the same spirit than Chapter 3), given the difficult numerical simulations involved, but it would benefit from all results one can find in this thesis.

Appendix A Convergence of the price momentum

Let recall the ending result of the proof of Proposition 4:

$$H_t - r_{\infty} = (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^t \theta^{t-i} [r_i - r_{\infty}] + \theta^t (H_0 - r_{\infty}) \text{ for } t \ge 1$$

Let $\epsilon > 0$. We have supposed that $r_t \to r_{\infty}$ when $t \to +\infty$. So, there exists t_0 such that, for all $t \ge t_0$, $|r_t - r_{\infty}| \le \epsilon$. We how have a quantification of the term in brackets appearing in the sum. One finds:

$$\begin{aligned} |H_t - r_{\infty}| &\leq (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^t \theta^{t-i} |r_i - r_{\infty}| + \theta^t |H_0 - r_{\infty}| \\ &\leq \theta^t \left[(1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^{t_0 - 1} \frac{1}{\theta^i} |r_i - r_{\infty}| + |H_0 - r_{\infty}| \right] + (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=t_0}^t \theta^{t-i} |r_i - r_{\infty}| \\ &\leq \theta^t |A| + |\epsilon| (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=t_0}^t |\theta^{t-i}| \end{aligned}$$

A is a constant, defined as follows:

$$A = (1 - \theta) \sum_{i=1}^{t_0 - 1} \frac{1}{\theta^i} |r_i - r_\infty| + |H_0 - r_\infty|$$

Then, one finds easily:

$$|H_t - r_{\infty}| \leq \theta^t A + \epsilon (1 - \theta^{t+1-t_0})$$

$$\leq \theta^t A + \epsilon - \epsilon \theta^{t+1-t_0}$$

The first and the last terms at the right side of the previous inequality tend to 0 when $t \to +\infty$. As a consequence, we have proved that $H_t \to r_\infty$ if $r_t \to r_\infty$.

Bibliography

- Taisei Kaizoji, Matthias Leiss, Alexander Saichev, and Didier Sornette. Superexponential endogenous bubbles in an equilibrium model of fundamentalist and chartist traders. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 112:289–310, 2015.
- [2] Cars H Hommes. Heterogeneous agent models in economics and finance. Handbook of computational economics, 2:1109–1186, 2006.
- [3] Philip W Anderson. The economy as an evolving complex system. CRC Press, 2018.
- [4] W Brian Arthur. The economy as an evolving complex system II. CRC Press, 2018.
- [5] W Brian Arthur. Out-of-equilibrium economics and agent-based modeling. Handbook of computational economics, 2:1551–1564, 2006.
- [6] John Barkley Rosser. Complexity in economics. 2004.
- [7] Robert J Shiller, Stanley Fischer, and Benjamin M Friedman. Stock prices and social dynamics. Brookings papers on economic activity, 1984(2):457–510, 1984.
- [8] David Colander, Richard PF Holt, J Barkley, et al. *The changing face of economics:* conversations with cutting edge economists. University of Michigan Press, 2004.
- [9] Jeffrey A Frankel and Kenneth A Froot. Chartists, fundamentalists and trading in the foreign exchange market. *American Economic Review*, 80, 1989.
- [10] Jeffrey A Frankel and Kenneth A Froot. Short-term and long-term expectations of the yen/dollar exchange rate: evidence from survey data, 1987.
- [11] Ralf Kohrt. The market impact of exploiting financial bubbles. Master thesis, ETHZ, 2016.
- [12] Madis Ollikainen. Multiple market regimes in an equilibrium model of fundamentalist and noise traders. Master thesis, ETHZ, 2016.
- [13] Didier Sornette. Stock market speculation: Spontaneous symmetry breaking of economic valuation. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications, 284(1-4):355– 375, 2000.
- [14] George Frankfurter, Bob G Wood, and James Wansley. Dividend policy: Theory and practice. Academic Press, 2003.
- [15] John Lintner. Distribution of incomes of corporations among dividends, retained earnings, and taxes. The American Economic Review, 46(2):97–113, 1956.

- [16] Terry A. Marsh and Robert C. Merton. Dividend variability and variance bounds tests for the rationality of stock market prices. *The American Economic Review*, 76(3):483–498, 1986.
- [17] Phoebus J Dhrymes and Mordecai Kurz. On the dividend policy of electric utilities. The Review of Economics and Statistics, pages 76–81, 1964.
- [18] Robert J Shiller. Market volatility. MIT press, 1992.
- [19] George M Frankfurter and William R Lane. The rationality of dividends. International Review of Financial Analysis, 1(2):115–129, 1992.
- [20] Stephen G Cecchetti, Pok-Sang Lam, and Nelson Mark. Mean reversion in equilibrium asset prices, 1988.
- [21] Yangru Wu. Rational bubbles in the stock market: accounting for the us stock-price volatility. *Economic Inquiry*, 35(2):309, 1997.
- [22] Allan Timmermann. Excess volatility and predictability of stock prices in autoregressive dividend models with learning. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 63(4):523–557, 1996.
- [23] George W Evans. Pitfalls in testing for explosive bubbles in asset prices. The American Economic Review, 81(4):922–930, 1991.
- [24] Cars H Hommes. Modeling the stylized facts in finance through simple nonlinear adaptive systems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(suppl 3):7221– 7228, 2002.
- [25] Allan G Timmermann. How learning in financial markets generates excess volatility and predictability in stock prices. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 108(4):1135– 1145, 1993.
- [26] Stephen F LeRoy and William R Parke. Stock price volatility: Tests based on the geometric random walk. The American Economic Review, 82(4):981–992, 1992.
- [27] Hai-Chuan Xu, Wei Zhang, Xiong Xiong, and Wei-Xing Zhou. Wealth share analysis with fundamentalist/chartist heterogeneous agents. In *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, volume 2014. Hindawi, 2014.
- [28] Walter Nicholson and Christopher Snyder. *Microeconomic theory: Basic principles* and extensions. Nelson Education, 2011.
- [29] John W Pratt. Risk aversion in the small and in the large. In HANDBOOK OF THE FUNDAMENTALS OF FINANCIAL DECISION MAKING: Part I, pages 317–331. World Scientific, 2013.
- [30] James E Hartley and James E Hartley. *The representative agent in macroeconomics*. Routledge, 2002.
- [31] Morgan Kelly. All their eggs in one basket: Portfolio diversification of us households. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 27(1):87–96, 1995.

- [32] Marianne Baxter and Urban J Jermann. The international diversification puzzle is worse than you think. Technical report, National Bureau of Economic Research, 1995.
- [33] Russ Wermers. Mutual fund herding and the impact on stock prices. the Journal of Finance, 54(2):581–622, 1999.
- [34] Thomas Lux. Herd behaviour, bubbles and crashes. *The economic journal*, pages 881–896, 1995.
- [35] Thomas Lux. The socio-economic dynamics of speculative markets: interacting agents, chaos, and the fat tails of return distributions. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 33(2):143–165, 1998.
- [36] Thomas Lux and Michele Marchesi. Scaling and criticality in a stochastic multi-agent model of a financial market. *Nature*, 397(6719):498, 1999.
- [37] Thomas Lux and Michele Marchesi. Volatility clustering in financial markets: a microsimulation of interacting agents. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 31(16):7–10, 1998.
- [38] Myron J Gordon and Eli Shapiro. Capital equipment analysis: the required rate of profit. Management science, 3(1):102–110, 1956.



Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich

Declaration of originality

The signed declaration of originality is a component of every semester paper, Bachelor's thesis, Master's thesis and any other degree paper undertaken during the course of studies, including the respective electronic versions.

Lecturers may also require a declaration of originality for other written papers compiled for their courses.

I hereby confirm that I am the sole author of the written work here enclosed and that I have compiled it in my own words. Parts excepted are corrections of form and content by the supervisor.

Title of work (in block letters):

LONG-TERM BEHAVIOR OF AN ARTIFICIAL	MARKET, COMPOSED	OF FUNDAMENTALISTS
AND NOISE TRADERS		

Authored by (in block letters):

For papers written by groups the names of all authors are required.

Name(s):	First name(s):
CONTI	JEAN-REMY

With my signature I confirm that

- I have committed none of the forms of plagiarism described in the '<u>Citation etiquette</u>' information sheet.
- I have documented all methods, data and processes truthfully.
- I have not manipulated any data.
- I have mentioned all persons who were significant facilitators of the work.

I am aware that the work may be screened electronically for plagiarism.

Place, date

Signature(s)

Zürich, 06.08.2018

For papers written by groups the names of all authors are required. Their signatures collectively guarantee the entire content of the written paper.